

Copyright Undertaking

This thesis is protected by copyright, with all rights reserved.

By reading and using the thesis, the reader understands and agrees to the following terms:

- 1. The reader will abide by the rules and legal ordinances governing copyright regarding the use of the thesis.
- 2. The reader will use the thesis for the purpose of research or private study only and not for distribution or further reproduction or any other purpose.
- 3. The reader agrees to indemnify and hold the University harmless from and against any loss, damage, cost, liability or expenses arising from copyright infringement or unauthorized usage.

IMPORTANT

If you have reasons to believe that any materials in this thesis are deemed not suitable to be distributed in this form, or a copyright owner having difficulty with the material being included in our database, please contact lbsys@polyu.edu.hk providing details. The Library will look into your claim and consider taking remedial action upon receipt of the written requests.

Pao Yue-kong Library, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

http://www.lib.polyu.edu.hk

FUNDAMENTAL AND COMPREHENSIVE CHARACTERIZATION OF THE MOBILISATION AND BLENDING OF AGED AND UNAGED BINDERS IN RECLAIMED ASPHALT PAVEMENT (RAP) MIXTURES

SREERAM ANAND

PhD

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

2020

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering

FUNDAMENTAL AND COMPREHENSIVE CHARACTERIZATION OF THE MOBILISATION AND BLENDING OF AGED AND UNAGED BINDERS IN RECLAIMED ASPHALT PAVEMENT (RAP) MIXTURES

SREERAM Anand

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

October 2019

CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby declare that this thesis is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it reproduces no material previously published or written, nor material that has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma, except where due acknowledgment has been made in the text.

(Signed)

SREERAM Anand (Name)

ABSTRACT

The use of reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) in new bituminous mixtures has become a routine practice in many parts of the world as it is known to provide considerable environmental and economic benefits. However, the mixture design associated with it is complicated, with one of the concerns being the attributes of the resulting binder that is formed in the mix. Specifically, asphalt binders in mixtures with RAP consist of segments of both aged (RAP binder) and unaged (virgin) binders, intended to exist as a single entity. A significant apprehension in the design of such mixes is the undetermined extent of aged binder that is mobilised during mixing, and the ensuing blending of aged and unaged binders. The level of this blending is theorized to control the extent of homogeneity of the binder in the mix, and consequently has an important role in the overall mixture performance. This dissertation research is concerned with systematically investigating and improving the fundamental understanding of the many facets involved in the mobilisation of RAP binder and the subsequent interaction of RAP binders and unaged binders.

The first part of this dissertation was focused on developing a novel technique to evaluate RAP binder mobilisation using attenuated total reflectance Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (ATR-FTIR) as a major assessment tool. Following this, the effects of important variables in mixture design such as mixing temperature, incorporation of warm mix asphalt (WMA) additives and different RAP materials were assessed. Chemical tests such as saturates, aromatics, resin and asphaltenes (SARA) fractionation and microstructural analysis using optical microscopic techniques were then used to concurrently identify the possible mechanisms dictating the mobilisation process. The analysis results suggested that RAP binder mobilisation is greatly dependent on the mixing temperature, and the inclusion of certain WMA additives will also influence the extent of mobilisation. Moreover, the degrees of mobilisation were seen to vary based on the specific type of RAP used in the mix. Based on these results, it

was proposed that viscosity could be a useful parameter for practitioners to assess and standardize RAP variability.

In the second part, the compatibilities between unaged and aged binders were studied to fully capture the interaction mechanism of binders in RAP mixtures. An extension of the Hansen solubility parameter (HSP) model of solubility was used to approximate the relative molecular interactions of binders in terms of dispersive interactions, hydrogen bonding interactions and polar interactions. It was seen that some unaged binders and aged binders could markedly vary in terms of certain molecular interactions. This, in turn, is expected to have compatibility-based implications for the mobilisation of RAP binder and its blending with unaged binders. An investigation was also conducted into the chemistry and internal stability of combined blends of RAP binder and unaged binder. It was observed that higher concentrations of aged binders incorporated into unaged binders could change the internal stability of the blends, and plausibly affect the polydispersity of molecules. Hence, some consideration of the characteristics of the intermixing binders could be essential to design the most appropriate mix.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Journal Papers (Published)

- A Sreeram, Z Leng, R Hajj, A Bhasin (2019). Characterization of compatibility between aged and unaged binders in bituminous mixtures through an extended HSP model of solubility, *Fuel*, DOI: 10.1016/j.fuel.2019.05.161.
- A Sreeram, Z Leng (2019). Variability of RAP binder mobilisation in hot mix asphalt mixtures, *Construction and Building Materials* 201, 502-509.
- A Sreeram, Z Leng, Y Zhang, RK Padhan (2018). Evaluation of RAP binder mobilisation and blending efficiency in bituminous mixtures: An approach using ATR-FTIR and artificial aggregate, *Construction and Building Materials* 179, 245-253.
- Z Leng, A Sreeram, RK Padhan, Z Tan (2018). Value-added application of waste PET based additives in bituminous mixtures containing high percentage of reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP), *Journal of Cleaner Production* 196, 615-625.
- A Sreeram, Z Leng, RK Padhan, X Qu (2019). Eco-friendly paving materials using waste PET and reclaimed asphalt pavement, *HKIE Transactions* 25:4, 237-247.

Journal Papers (Under Review)

 A Sreeram, Z Leng, R Hajj, L Ferreira, Z Tan, A Bhasin. Fundamental Investigation of the Interaction Mechanism between New and Aged Binders in Binder Blends, Submitted to the *International Journal of Pavement Engineering*.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my most heartfelt gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Zhen Leng for his guidance and support throughout my doctoral study. I have learned tremendously from his intellect, professionalism, and character, which far exceeds the work documented in this dissertation. Working with him over the past 4 years made my Ph.D. journey smooth and enjoyable.

I would also like to thank my supervisor during my exchange at the University of Texas at Austin, Dr. Amit Bhasin. It was a wonderful learning experience to work with a brilliant individual like him.

This work could not have been completed without the help and assistance of various colleagues and friends. I must convey a special thanks to Dr. Rabindra Kumar Padhan. He taught me the basics of bitumen chemistry when I started out as a Ph.D. student and accelerated my progress, all of which holds me in good stead today. I would also like to extend my thanks to the many group members I have worked with over the years. They have been my source of daily joy, and we have spent a lot of happy moments together. Many thanks to Mr. Zhifei Tan, Mr. Fuliao Zou, Mr. Rui Li, Dr. Huayang Yu, Dr. Ramez Hajj, Mr. Tyler Seay, Mr. Lorran Wellington, Dr. Yuan Zhang, Dr. Xiong Xu, Dr. Kecheng Zhao, Mr. Yongli Wang, Ms. Ruijun Cao, Mr. Danning Li.... I am grateful for their friendship and unconditional support.

Last but not least, I would like to thank the various institutions in Hong Kong that have sponsored my education, right from my undergraduate days. I am truly indebted for this and hope there is an opportunity in the future to contribute back to Hong Kong society.

CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1
INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Background
1.2 Research Objectives and Scope
1.3 Significance of this Research4
1.4 Organisation of this Dissertation4
CHAPTER 27
LITERATURE REVIEW7
2.1 Overview7
2.2 RAP Use Worldwide
2.2.1 Hong Kong
2.2.2 United States of America (USA)
2.2.3 Japan10
2.2.4 China11
2.2.5 Europe
2.2.5.1 Austria11
2.2.5.2 France
2.2.5.3 Germany12
2.2.5.4 The Netherlands
2.2.5.5 United Kingdom (UK)12

2.2.6 Australia	13
2.3 Characteristics of RAP	13
2.3.1 Properties of RAP Binder	13
2.3.2 Rejuvenation of RAP Binder	14
2.4 Mixture Design and Properties of RAP Mixtures	14
2.4.1 Selection of Binder Grade and RAP Proportion	14
2.4.2 Mix Design Procedure	17
2.4.3 Properties of RAP Mixtures	17
2.4.3.1 Modulus	17
2.4.3.2 Fatigue	
2.4.3.3 Rutting	
2.4.3.4 Moisture Susceptibility	19
2.5 Mobilisation and Blending Phenomena	20
2.6 Chemistry of Binders	23
2.6.1 Bitumen	23
2.6.2 Solubility Fractions and Models of Bitumen Structure.	24
2.6.3 Molecular Interactions	
2.6.3.1 Dispersive Interactions	
2.6.3.2 Polar and Hydrogen Bonding	
2.6.3.3 π - π -interactions	29
2.6.4 Solubility Parameters for Bitumen	

2.7 Microstructure of Binders	33
2.8 Bitumen Ageing	35
2.8.1 Effect on Chemistry and Rheology	36
2.9 Blending of Bitumens	37
2.10 Summary	38
CHAPTER 3	40
EVALUATION OF RAP BINDER MOBILISATION AND BLENDING EFFICIENCY.	40
3.1 Experimental Mix Design and Materials	40
3.2 Glass Beads as artificial aggregate	42
3.3 ATR-FTIR to Evaluate RAP Binder Mobilisation and Blending	44
3.3.1 Mechanism of ATR-FTIR	44
3.3.2 Application to Bitumen	46
3.4 Experimental Procedure and Methods	49
3.5 Results and Discussion	53
3.5.1 Temperature Effect on RAP Mobilisation and Blending Efficiency	53
3.6 Validation of the Proposed Parameters	54
3.7 Conclusions	59
CHAPTER 4	61
EFFECT OF MIXING VARIABLES ON RAP BINDER MOBILISATION	61
4.1 PART A. Effect of Warm Mix Asphalt (WMA) Additives	61
4.1.1 Background and Types of WMA	61

4.1.1.1 Foaming Additives	62
4.1.1.2 Organic Additives	62
4.1.1.3 Chemical Additives	63
4.1.2 Experimental Mix Design and Materials	63
4.1.3 Experimental Procedure and Methods	65
4.1.3.1 Preparation of Samples and Mixing Process	65
4.1.3.2 Viscosity Tests	65
4.1.3.3 Method for Evaluating RAP Binder Mobilisation	65
4.1.4 Results	66
4.1.4.1 Viscosity	66
4.1.4.2 Effect of WMA on RAP Binder Mobilisation	67
4.2 PART B. Effect of RAP Type	69
4.2.1 Background	69
4.2.2 Experimental Mix Design and Materials	69
4.2.3 Experimental Procedure and Methods	71
4.2.3.1 Preparation of Samples and Mixing Process	71
4.2.3.2 Method for Evaluating RAP Binder Mobilisation	71
4.2.3.3 Viscosity	71
4.2.3.4 Saturates, Aromatics, Resins and Asphaltene (SARA) Fractionation	72
4.2.3.5 Optical Microscopy	72
4.2.4 Results	73

4.2.4.1 RAP Binder Mobilisation	73
4.2.4.2 Viscosity	74
4.2.4.3 SARA Fractionation	75
4.2.4.4 Optical Microscopy	77
4.3 Mechanism of Mobilisation	78
4.4 Findings and Conclusions	80
4.5 Implications for Mixture Design	81
CHAPTER 5	83
COMPATIBILITY OF MIXING AGED AND UNAGED BINDERS	83
5.1 Background on Bitumen Compatibility and Solubility	83
5.2. Materials	84
5.3 Experimental Methods and Procedure	85
5.3.1 Titration Procedure	85
5.3.2 Saturates, Aromatics, Resins and Asphaltene (SARA) Fractionation	91
5.4. Results and Discussion	92
5.4.1 Internal Stability and Intermolecular Interactions	92
5.4.1.1 Dispersive Forces	93
5.4.1.2 Polar and Hydrogen Bonding Interactions	93
5.4.2 Implications of Intermolecular Forces on RAP Binder Mobilisation	96
5.4.3 SARA Fractionation	97
5.4.4 Influence of Polarity and Solubility on Virgin-RAP Binder Blends	99

5.5 Findings and Conclusion1	101
CHAPTER 61	103
CHEMISTRY OF COMBINED BLENDS AND IMPLICATIONS ON BLENDING 1	103
6.1 Background	103
6.2 Materials1	104
6.3 Experimental Procedure and Methods1	105
6.3.1 BISOM Titration1	105
6.3.2 FTIR Spectroscopy1	105
6.3.3 GPC Tests1	105
6.3.4 Dynamic Shear Rheometer (DSR)1	106
6.4 Results and Discussion1	107
6.4.1 Solubility Based Molecular Interactions1	107
6.4.2 Extent of Oxidative Groups1	109
6.4.3 GPC Parameters	112
6.4.4 Rheological Results1	115
6.5 Findings and Conclusion1	117
6.6 Implications for Mixture Design1	118
CHAPTER 71	120
FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS1	120
7.1 Findings1	120
7.2 Conclusions	122

7.3 Future Work	
LIST OF STANDARDS MENTIONED	
REFERENCE LIST	
APPENDICES	142
A.1 General Procedure and Notes on the ATR- FTIR Method	
A.2 General Procedure and Notes on the GPC Procedure	144
A.3 General Procedure and Setup of the Optical Microscope	
A.4 General Procedure and Notes on Tex(as)SARA Procedure	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Mobilisation and Blending Phenomenon in RAP Mixtures	2
Figure 1.2 Research Framework	6
Figure 2.1 Commonly used blending charts	16
Figure 2.2 Mobilisation and Blending Phenomenon in RAP Mixtures	21
Figure 2.3 Molecular structures of bitumen fractions as per polarity-based separation	27
Figure 2.4 Models of bitumen microstructure	28
Figure 2.5 Hansen solubility model for bitumen fractions	33
Figure 2.6 Bitumen microstructure image from AFM	35
Figure 3.1 Pictures of the glass beads used	44
Figure 3.2 Principle of ATR-FTIR	45
Figure 3.3 Bruker attenuated total reflection FTIR spectrometer	46
Figure 3.4 FTIR spectra of the virgin binder and RAP binder	47
Figure 3.5 Glass beads recovered after mixing	51
Figure 3.6 Dynamic shear rheometer (DSR)	51
Figure 3.7 Gel permeation chromatography system	52
Figure 3.8 Principle of size exclusion in GPC	52
Figure 3.9 Percentage of RAP binder recovered for control samples	53
Figure 3.10 Blending efficiency of the control samples	54
Figure 3.11 Frequency sweep test at 30°C	56
Figure 3.12 Frequency sweep test at 30°C at 15% RAP content	56

Figure 3.13 Frequency sweep test at 30°C at 30% RAP content	57
Figure 3.14 Frequency sweep test at 30°C at 50% RAP content	57
Figure 3.15 Illustrative chromatogram of the RAP binder and virgin binder	58
Figure 3.16 LMS (%) obtained from GPC testing	59
Figure 4.1 Pictures of the warm mix additives	65
Figure 4.2 Viscosities of the warm binders	67
Figure 4.3 Percentage of RAP binder recovered for warm mix samples	68
Figure 4.4 Optical Microscope	73
Figure 4.5 Percentage of RAP binder recovered from binder samples	74
Figure 4.6 Viscosities of RAP binders	75
Figure 4.7 SARA fraction of binders	77
Figure 4.8 Microstructure images of RAP binders	78
Figure 4.9 Mixing process of RAP with virgin binder and aggregate	79
Figure 5.1 HSP of toluene and titrants in the HSP sphere of bitumen	87
Figure 5.2 Images on filter paper after the addition of each aliquot of titrant (left to right).	88
Figure 5.3 Colour intensity analysis of titration results	89
Figure 5.4 Extrapolated graph of FR vs C	90
Figure 5.5 Elution of aromatics through SPE cartridges	92
Figure 5.6 Strength of intermolecular interactions in RAP binders and virgin binder	95
Figure 5.7 Strength of intermolecular interactions in artificially aged binders and virgin	
binder	95

Figure 5.8 Polar associations between molecules	96
Figure 5.9 SARA fractions of binders	
Figure 6.1 Strength of intermolecular interactions in Series 1	
Figure 6.2 Strength of intermolecular interactions in Series 2	
Figure 6.3 Areas corresponding to the Carbonyl Bonds	
Figure 6.4 Reaction types of bitumen during ageing	
Figure 6.5 LMS (%) obtained from GPC testing	
Figure 6.6 Formation of clusters in asphaltene molecules	
Figure 6.7 Mechanism of change in aggregation during mixing	
Figure 6.8 Master curve for binders in Series 1	116
Figure 6.9 Master curve for binders in Series 2	117
Figure A.1.1 Original spectra and normalised spectra	
Figure A1.2 Calculation of Carbonyl band area	144
Figure A.3.1 Translation stages for sample and objective movement	147
Figure A.4.1 Final fractionation products after elution and drying	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Mixture Composition	41
Table 3.2 SARA Fraction of RAP	42
Table 3.3 Softening Point and Penetration of RAP	42
Table 3.4 Chemical Composition of Glass Beads	43
Table 3.5 Weight of Glass Beads Used in Each Mixture	43
Table 3.6 Control Samples Prepared	51
Table 4.1 Gradation of Mixture for WMA Mixtures	64
Table 4.2 Warm Mix Additives Used	64
Table 4.3 Gradation of the Various Mixtures	70
Table 4.4 Conventional Rheological Properties	71
Table 5.1 HSP of Toluene, Titrants and Bitumen	87

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

RAP	Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement
ATR	Attenuated Total Reflectance
FTIR	Fourier Transform Infrared (ATR-FTIR) Spectroscopy
WMA	Warm Mix Additives
SARA	Saturates, Aromatics, Resins, Asphaltenes
HSP	Hansen Solubility Parameters
GPC	Gel Permeation Chromatography
HMA	Hot Mix Asphalt
DOT	Department of Transport
C&D	Construction and Demolition
SMA	Stone Mastic Asphalt
OGA	Open Graded Asphalt
PG	Performance Grading
TSR	Tensile strength ratio
IR	Infra-Red
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
SHRP	Strategic Highway Research Program
AASHTO	American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials
ASTM	American Society for Testing and Materials

BISOM	Bitumen Solubility Model
AFM	Atomic Force Microscopy
BBR	Bending Beam rheometer
RTFOT	Rolling Thin Film Oven Test
PAV	Pressurised Ageing Vessel
UV	Ultraviolet
DSC	Differential Scanning Calorimeter
IA	Integrated Area
TCE	Trichloroethylene
LMS	Large Molecular Size
MMS	Medium molecular Size
SMS	Small molecular size
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
PTFE	Polytetrafluoroethylene
SPE	Solid Phase Extraction
FAM	Fine Aggregate Matrix
MD	Molecular Dynamics

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

The construction of pavements is progressively moving towards the incorporation of ecofriendlier and sustainable practices intended to decrease the overall environmental impact in terms of carbon footprint and energy expenditure. The utilisation of reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) in new bituminous mixtures is one such measure and shown to provide considerable environmental and economic benefits [1]. However, from an engineering perspective, many concerns still persist regarding the unpredictable performance of RAP mixtures and uncertain elements in RAP mixture design [2]. One of the main apprehensions hindering the applicability of high RAP mixtures is the ambiguity regarding the extent of aged binder covering RAP aggregates, referred to as "RAP binder" that is mobilised during mixture production. Consequentially, some proportion of this RAP binder is expected to be accessible to be blended with the unaged (virgin) binder, to form a combined binder layer around aggregates in the mixture.

The earliest theories around RAP binder mobilisation and blending assumed that the RAP binder mixes with the virgin binder to create a new blend with target properties [1]. It was believed that during mixture production, all the RAP binder covering RAP aggregates could be utilized and blends with the virgin binder. This is now commonly believed to be an oversimplification and consequently, the real extent of the mobilisation of RAP binder and blending between aged and unaged binders have been a matter of much deliberation among researchers. The mobilisation and blending phenomenon are illustrated in Figure 1.1 which explains the existence of an activated or mobilised layer of binder around RAP aggregates during mixture production. The mobilised binder then blends with the virgin binder to some

degree during this production process [3]. Another effect that had been earlier considered was the "black rock" effect which suggests the possibility of a double coat of aged and unaged binder on RAP aggregates when RAP is used [4]. Due to these uncertainties and variability involved, many regulatory frameworks specify caution when determining targets for the blending of binders in RAP mixtures [5].



a) Mobilised RAP Binder

b) Blending Scenario



The phenomenon of RAP binder mobilisation and blending (of aged and unaged binders) have been studied by investigators in the past using various rheological and chemical techniques [6, 7]. Some researchers have used rheological approaches and models to predict the dynamic modulus |E*| of blended binders extracted from recycled mixtures, through matching their master curves of dynamic modulus measured in the laboratory [8,9]. Regarding chemical methods, gel permeation chromatography (GPC) and Fourier transform Infra-Red (FTIR) spectroscopy have been the main tools used for assessment. Overall, RAP binder mobilisation and blending is a critical design issue as under-asphalted mixtures arising from low mobilisation and blending levels can significantly increase the possibility of fatigue cracking and moisture damage in mixtures [1]. In terms of existing research, there is no tangible consensus regarding RAP binder mobilisation and blending of binders, and there exists an imperative need to validate prior results using varied methods under different laboratory conditions. Significantly, a basic understanding regarding the mechanism of mobilisation and subsequent interaction between aged and unaged binders is lacking and needs to be investigated.

This dissertation research is concerned with systematically examining and improving the fundamental understanding regarding the various facets involved in the mobilisation of RAP binder and the ensuing blending of RAP binder and unaged binders. In the first part of the study, experiments were devised and performed to evaluate RAP binder mobilisation and blending efficiency using attenuated total reflectance Fourier transform infrared (ATR-FTIR) spectroscopy as a major assessment tool. Following this, the effect of important variables in mixture design and probable mechanisms involved in the mobilisation process were investigated. In the second part, the compatibilities between aged and unaged binders, and the internal stability of combined blends of these binders were assessed, primarily using an extension of the Hansen solubility parameter (HSP) model of solubility.

1.2 Research Objective and Scope

The objective of this dissertation is to systematically investigate and advance the fundamental understanding regarding the various features involved in the mobilisation and blending of RAP binders with virgin binders in asphalt mixtures. To achieve this objective, the following research tasks were conducted:

- A comprehensive literature review concerning the utilisation and performance properties of RAP; mobilisation and blending of binders in RAP mixtures; the chemistry of binders and combined blends.
- Design of an experimental method to determine the extent of RAP binder mobilisation and blending efficiency using ATR-FTIR as a method of evaluation.
- Validation of the proposed method using chemical and rheological analysis.

- Investigation of the effect of important variables in mixture design such as mixing temperature, WMA additives, and RAP type.
- Deduction of the probable mechanism of mobilisation using chemical and microscopical analysis.
- Evaluation of the compatibility between unaged and aged binders using a solubilitybased model, and its effect on RAP binder mobilisation and blending of unaged and aged binders.
- Study on the interaction mechanism between unaged and aged binders in binder blends.

1.3 Significance of this Research

The original contributions of the dissertations are listed as follows:

- Development of a novel method to determine the extent of RAP binder mobilisation and blending efficiency in bituminous mixtures using ATR-FTIR.
- Investigation of the effects of different mix variables in RAP mixture design, and the deduction of the probable mechanisms that dictate RAP binder mobilisation.
- Insight on the compatibilities between aged and unaged binders, and its effect on the mobilisation and blending phenomenon.
- Evaluation of the distinctive chemistry and internal stability of binder blends composed of aged and unaged binder.

1.4 Organisation of this Dissertation

As per the scope of the research listed above, this dissertation is divided into 7 chapters:

- Chapter 1 presents the general background and organisational structure of this dissertation.
- Chapter 2 presents a literature review regarding 1) the current global status of RAP use in asphalt pavements 2) performance properties and major challenges in the design of

RAP mixtures 3) prior findings regarding the blending and mobilisation of binders 4) chemistry and rheology of binders and binder blends.

- Chapter 3 presents a method to evaluate RAP binder mobilisation and blending efficiency, including validation of the proposed method using chemical and rheological analyses.
- Chapter 4 is divided into two parts. Part A presents the effect of using different WMA additives on RAP binder mobilisation. Part B assesses the effect of using different RAP materials on the same phenomena. The probable mechanisms dictating the results obtained are also deliberated using chemical and microscopical techniques.
- Chapter 5 presents an investigation into the compatibility between aged and unaged binders using a solubility-based model, and its effect on RAP binder mobilisation and blending.
- Chapter 6 characterises the chemistry and internal stability of combined blends composed of aged and unaged binders.
- Chapter 7 summarises the findings and conclusions from the study and the recommendations for future work.

The overall research framework of this dissertation is presented in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2 Research Framework

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

The recycling of asphalt pavement in the form of reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) has become a widespread custom in the highway and pavement sector. In this chapter, the recent developments related to RAP research is presented including background regarding RAP materials; the present standing of RAP use worldwide; mix design and rheological properties of mixtures comprising RAP; research on RAP binder mobilisation and blending efficiency which is the principal focus of this dissertation and lastly the chemistry of unaged binders, aged binders and binder blends.

Portions of the discussion presented in this chapter have been previously published in "Evaluation of RAP binder mobilisation and blending efficiency in bituminous mixtures: An approach using ATR-FTIR and artificial aggregate, Construction and Building Materials 179 (2018), 245-253"; "Variability of RAP binder mobilisation in hot mix asphalt mixtures,

Construction and Building Materials 201 (2019), 502-509"; "Characterization of compatibility between aged and unaged binders in bituminous mixtures through an extended HSP model of solubility, Fuel, DOI: 10.1016/j.fuel.2019.05.161"

2.1 Overview

The combination of asphalt binder and aggregate acquired as a result of recycling typically hot mix asphalt (HMA) is designated as reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP). The utilisation of RAP in asphalt mixtures has become a necessity in many parts of the world due to the increasing price of bitumen, the shortage of quality aggregates and the need to embrace more sustainable methods in each sector of the environment [10]. Studies in the past have reported savings of up to 34% when RAP content between 20 to 50% was used in terms of material and construction costs [11]. Nevertheless, this is thought to be a good indicator but may not necessarily reflect

the real savings in terms of the overall life cycle of the pavement. Further, it is acknowledged by practitioners that the utilisation of the highest proportions of RAP should be conducted with a general view of designing an economical and high-quality mixture, comparable to performance as 100 % virgin mixes.

2.2 RAP Use Worldwide

In view of economic considerations and environmental concerns, many transport and highway departments around the world have attempted using RAP in new bituminous mixtures with different levels of success and popularity.

2.2.1 Hong Kong

As of the writing of this dissertation, the maximum amount of RAP allowed in new bituminous mixtures is 30% and there are ongoing studies to increase this percentage [12]. However, in general, the use of RAP is not a popular approach among contractors mainly due to logistical concerns.

2.2.2 United States of America (USA)

In the USA, the quantity of RAP utilised in new mixtures was normally less than 15% as there was not a considerable advantage of using a larger percentage of RAP. However, around the year 2008, there was a notable increase in the price of bitumen and an overall decrease in supplies. Henceforth, the usage of RAP in new mixtures became popular again among practitioners. As of 2011, the yearly production of new asphaltic materials in the United States was close to 500 million tons, which comprised about 60 million tons of RAP material [4]. As the rate of recycling is high for all asphalt material, it has the greatest reuse rate by proportion among all recycled materials in the United States. Most State Departments of Transportations (DOTs) have stated that the utilisation of RAP is largely steered by the overheads of raw materials and transportation. However, most states reported that they did not exclusively track

the percentages of RAP used or the overall cost savings. The main reason for this is that HMA is not tendered based on its constituents, on the contrary, it is tendered as a material on its own.

The most extensive survey done in the US with regard to RAP specifications was conducted by the North Carolina Department of Transportation with backing from the AASHTO subcommittee on materials [13]. Surveys were used from the 50 states in the USA, and the State of Ontario in Canada, which advocated that the bulk of the DOT specifications permitted for the utilisation of RAP in HMA. In addition, the mean national usage rate was determined to be around 12%. The maximum RAP usage was reported in the states of Florida and Michigan of around 30% and minimum usage rates were reported in the states of Wyoming and Arizona of less than 5%. Another review was performed by the Materials Engineering and Research Office of the Ministry of Transportation of Ontario, Canada, which corroborated the findings from the NCDOT survey from 2007 [14]. This study reported that 20-30% of RAP was commonly allowed for binder and base courses. Additionally, it was stated that the permitted proportion of RAP was larger for light traffic roadways and base courses, in contrast to medium or heavy traffic roadways. Later on, in 2009, a comparable survey was conducted by NCDOT, which showed that half of the states improved on their overall RAP usage from 2007 to 2009 [15]. Many State DOTs testified on trialling with or regularly using high RAP percentages, although it was not a general practice. According to the survey, many State DOTs permitted the usage of above 25% RAP in HMA layers, even though less than half of the states actually used greater 20% RAP in HMA layers. Most of the State DOTs also mandated that mixtures using RAP also meet other conventional mix design requirements. Other conditions commonly included the grade of the asphalt binder, type of aggregate used and size of nominal maximum aggregate. Interestingly, another survey by the Ohio DOT (ODOT) indicated that there were no distinct requirements for high RAP mixtures outside the design process for conventional mixes [16]. Since 2009, the change in the total percentage of RAP use by all sectors had increased steadily at a rate of about 1% per year. The survey also indicated that the number of states reporting average RAP percentages greater than 20% also increased significantly, rising from 14 states in 2009 to 27 states in 2014. Lastly, the number of states reporting RAP percentages of less than 15% decreased from 19 states in 2009 to 9 states in 2014. The states of Nebraska, Florida, and Michigan reported high RAP use of more than 30% with most states reporting the use of around 15-30%.

2.2.3 Japan

As per existing literature, mixtures with a high proportion of RAP are more widely produced in Japan than any other part of the world. It is reckoned that the standard amount of RAP used in a pavement in Japan is around 47%. More than 80.6 million vehicles commute in the roadways in Japan and about 791,189 miles of roads in Japan are owned privately [17]. Japan produces around 55 million tonnes of HMA yearly and has about 1150 asphalt plants serving the majority of the country. Out of the HMA produced yearly, nearly 41.9 million of it contain RAP [18]. Japanese asphalt plants are mostly batch-type which produces smaller quantities with lower production rates as compared to other countries. It is estimated that about 15% of HMA mixtures in Japan use polymer-modified asphalt binders. The roadways in Japan are considerably mature and hence the paving is mostly for maintenance-related works and surface courses. The contractors in Japan generally place importance on safety and have a pressing commitment to recycling. National laws also dictate the utilisation of RAP in pavement applications i.e. the Waste Management and Public Cleansing Law (Law No. 137 of 1970) and the act on Promotion of Procurement of Eco-friendly Goods and Services by the State and other entities (Law No. 100 of 2000). The conservation of resources and reducing waste is a necessity in Japan as a result of the constrained land area, constrained raw materials and less space for disposal. In fact, different laws dictate recycling in various sectors of society, including construction and demolition (C&D) waste materials. Remarkably, around 99% of the pavement that is removed is reused and recycled into new pavements [18]. Japan has accomplished this unprecedented level of RAP utilisation as a result of numerous decades of in-depth research and field performance evaluation. The practices and standards that have been developed have proved to be equally effective for high RAP mixes and virgin mixes.

2.2.4 China

In China, the usage of RAP has been encouraged in recent times as it has been locally accepted that its use can lower construction, maintenance and rehabilitation costs of asphalt pavement. However, it is difficult to indicate a specification that is used nationwide, however as per the Technical Specifications for Highway Asphalt Pavement (JTF F41-2008), 30% RAP seems to be the maximum content that can be used in mixes.

2.2.5 Europe

It is fairly normal in Europe to use RAP in dense-graded mixes and its use is regulated by the ordinance EN 13108-1:2006. This system is standardized in such a way that member countries are allowed to set agency-specific criteria within the framework provided in the standard.

2.2.5.1 Austria

In Austria, there is no exact limit on the percentage of RAP that can be used in mixtures. However, it is generally required that the aggregate properties of RAP comply with the constraints of the aggregates being used in the virgin asphalt material unless the RAP content is less than 10%. The softening point test results are utilised to assess the blend properties of RAP binder and virgin binder. However, the incorporation of RAP is not allowed in noisereducing thin asphalt layers, open-graded asphalt (OGA) and SMA (Stone Mastic Asphalt).

2.2.5.2 France

The utilisation of RAP in unbound pavement layers is generally not a widespread practice in France. RAP content is usually kept below 30% when incorporated in granular base materials.

However, RAP is more commonly used inbound pavement layers for HMA, WMA, and cold in-place recycling.

2.2.5.3 Germany

According to the German standards, the utilisation of a high proportion of RAP is allowed in surface courses, contingent on the uniformity of the RAP material. There is no allowable limit as per literature, if RAP is incorporated into the surface layer, the aggregate properties of the RAP should comply with the normal constraints for surface layer aggregates. The highest allowable RAP in an asphalt mix is determined by the German asphalt specification, using the content of binder, softening point and proportional mass fractions of 0.063 mm, 0.063/2 mm and 2/maximum aggregate of the RAP material. As such, there are no specified RAP content limits for polymer modified mixes, as long as the properties of the blended binder, such as softening point, satisfy the criteria given for virgin binders. Lastly, the use of RAP in SMA and OGA is not permitted in Germany.

2.2.5.4 The Netherlands

In the Netherlands, high percentages of RAP are allowed in the different layers including the surface layer, there is no limit as per the specification provided that the RAP is of consistent quality and the final product complies with the normal specifications for dense-graded mixes. The use of RAP is not permitted in SMA and OGA, the latter of which is widely applied in the Netherlands.

2.2.5.5 United Kingdom (UK)

In the UK, 10% RAP in bituminous surface layers is allowed, but the RAP mixes have to comply with the same performance criteria as asphalt mixes containing only virgin materials. Ever since the UK adopted the EN framework of specifications, the specifications in the EN

13108-8:2005 standard series described above also apply to surface mixes containing RAP in the UK. The utilisation of up to 10% RAP in SMA mixes is allowed in the UK.

2.2.6 Australia

Current Australian practice only permits the utilisation of up to 30% of RAP in asphalt mixes [5]. Various state road agencies in Australia put requirements on the uniformity of the RAP material and the management of RAP stockpiles.

2.3 Characteristics of RAP

During the service period of HMA, the aggregates and especially the binders in the mixture undergo changes in this rheology and chemistry that would then need to be considered the mix design of new mixtures with RAP.

2.3.1 Properties of RAP Binder

The binder in RAP has undergone two separate phases of aging: short term ageing during construction and being subjected to air at temperatures reaching around 165°C or higher; and long-term ageing primarily through the oxidative reactions between the bitumen and oxygen in the presence of air. This level of ageing is also influenced by the void content of the HMA as the binders retrieved from porous HMA have reported higher levels of ageing than regular HMA [19]. Studies have also reported that larger the deterioration of the pavement preceding the recycling, greater the differences in the characteristics of the binder. An example of this is the reduced oxidation sensitivity in pavements that are maintained better [20]. As a result of the changes in binder chemistry during ageing, RAP binders are considerably stiffer than virgin binders and exhibit different rheological characteristics. Hence, the blending of virgin and RAP binders to achieve desired properties is a significant design element in RAP mixtures. The properties of aged binders are also affected by the extent of moisture damage on pavements as

the reuse of stripped HMA as RAP may increase the probability of reoccurrence in the new mixtures [21].

2.3.2 Rejuvenation of RAP Binder

To reduce the stiffness of aged binders, recycling agents such as rejuvenators are sometimes used to restore their rheological properties and soften it. These agents are expected to lessen the viscosity of the RAP binder and reinstate its original properties, in terms of rheology [22]. It is understood that binders lose some of its maltene components during ageing, hence the rejuvenating agents generally contain fractions to restore it to its original state. However, most commonly used rejuvenators are sold as proprietary materials which makes it difficult to suggest a universally applicable description. In general, rejuvenators are known to decrease the loss of surface fines and the formation of further cracks; however, they will also decrease pavement skid resistance for a short time. As a result, rejuvenators are generally suitable for roads that have low-volume and low- density. The selection of a rejuvenator depends on the stiffness and quantity of the binder in the aged pavement. Generally speaking, the lower viscosity rejuvenator types can be utilised to reinstate aged binders of elevated viscosity and vice versa. Based on these specifications, a recycling agent must have a low enough viscosity to mix with the RAP binder, and also have a high flash point for safety concerns. It is also necessary that the rejuvenator must not evaporate rapidly during the mixing and construction stage. As a rule of thumb, the ratio of binder viscosity at 60°C is exercised as a gauge of the rejuvenator's durability [22].

2.4 Mixture Design and Properties of RAP Mixtures

2.4.1 Selection of Binder Grade and RAP Proportion

The usage of RAP in new pavement mixtures introduces stiff binders into mixtures which often necessitates the change of virgin binder grade during mix design. Often times a softer grade is

introduced into the mixture to ensure the combined blend meets target specifications. The earliest methods suggested a three-tier system to select the virgin binder [23]. As per the first tier, the grade of the fresh binder should not be altered if less than 15% of RAP is used. The second tier suggests if the proportion of RAP is between 15 and 25 %, then one performance grade can be lowered for the fresh binder. Lastly, if the proportion of RAP to be added is larger than 25%, the usage of blending charts is recommended. However, some studies have suggested that all tiers should use blending charts due to the variation in RAP source and properties [3]. Two methods have been reported for the creation of these charts, based on absolute viscosity and performance grading (PG) respectively [24]. The absolute viscosity method entails initially evaluating the absolute viscosity of RAP binder and fresh binder as per ASTM D2171. The absolute viscosity of the fresh binder at 60°C is plotted at point A as seen in Figure 2.1 (a), and the absolute viscosity of RAP binder at the same conditions is plotted at point C. These points are linked by a straight line and a corresponding parallel line is drawn through the target blend which intersects AC at point B. The vertical intercept at the x-axis estimates the proportion of RAP that can satisfy the viscosity of the blend. As per the PG method, the low, intermediate and high-temperature grades of the fresh and aged binder are firstly assessed. Figure 2.1(b) shows the typical graph wherein the high-temperature PG of the aged and fresh binder is plotted as point A and point C respectively. A and C are then joined by a straight line, and a parallel line is drawn via the required viscosity of blend, crossing the AC (viscosity line) at point B. The vertical intercept of the point at the x-axis estimates the content of the RAP proportion required. A similar procedure is repeated to establish the percentage of RAP required to satisfy the intermediate and low-temperature requirements. Alternatively, this procedure may be modified on the contrary case, i.e. if the proportion of RAP percentage to be incorporated is fixed. Hence, the PG of the virgin binder would need to be altered to meet the required specifications.


a) Absolute viscosity method



b) PG method



2.4.2 Mix Design Procedure

Some of the other factors that need to be considered for the design of mixtures with RAP include the capacity of plants to heat aggregates and fulfill volumetric requirements. The technique for designing mixtures with RAP materials is comparable to normal mixtures, regarding the RAP aggregate as regular aggregate, however, the amount of binder in RAP material needs to be accounted for. This is done using solvent extraction or ignition tests. Nevertheless, there is known to be considerable inaccuracy when calculating this, which may lead to errors when determining volumetric calculations, as it is built on the effective asphalt binder content of RAP.

2.4.3 Properties of RAP Mixtures

The introduction of RAP creates mixtures that have distinct rheological properties as compared to 100 % virgin mixtures. This is principally as a result of the design constraints and complexity of introducing highly variable materials like RAP into mixtures.

2.4.3.1 Modulus

The impact of varying the percentages of RAP on the modulus of asphalt mixes have been examined by many previous works [26,27]. A previous study explored the properties of mixes containing different percentages (0, 20, 40 and 60%) of RAP. It was seen that the magnitude of the increase of the modulus depends on the softness of the fresh binder; the softer the fresh binder, the greater the relative rise in the modulus [26]. In another study, it was reported that hardened RAP binder causes a surge in the modulus of mixes with higher RAP content resulting in higher mix stiffness [27]. Varying RAP content (0, 15, 25 and 40%) also reported that using a higher RAP content generally enhanced the dynamic moduli of the mixes [28]. For those mixes where softer grade binders were used, the moduli of the mix were seen to be typically lower than original grade virgin binder mixes and these differences were also statistically significant.

2.4.3.2 Fatigue

A previous study indicated that an optimum fatigue performance of mixtures occurs at RAP percentages of 20% and 40%, and there is no significant disadvantage of incorporating RAP in mixes in terms of fatigue performances [26]. Similar results were obtained from other studies which included mixes with 0 to 30% RAP and showed it to improve fatigue performance [29]. However, contrary results have also been reported suggesting that the addition of RAP resulted in a declining tendency of performance related to fatigue in four-point bending tests, for mixtures comprising 0,20,40 and 60 % RAP. One study also demonstrated a decline of fatigue performance in mixtures with RAP content higher than 20%, when evaluated in contrast to the performance of mixes with only virgin materials [30]. This study also showed that some negative impacts of using RAP such as the brittle nature of the binder may be counteracted by using a softer fresh binder. Two methods for improving the fatigue resistance of mixes with RAP have been investigated [31]. One method was to use a greater quantity of fresh binder, and the other to lower its grade. A string of mixtures with different RAP contents of 0, 25 and 50% was designed and manufactured, and these mixes were tested to evaluate for surface and reflection cracking and rutting using standardized laboratory tests. Complementary to these mixes, two other types of mixes were manufactured with marginally higher binder contents than the optimum design binder contents and mixes that used a softer fresh binder. The results suggested that the quantity of fresh binder may be increased by 0.1% for every 10% of RAP binder in the mix for up to 30% RAP. However, for quantities higher than this, a softer grade binder should be employed to enhance crack resistance.

2.4.3.3 Rutting

The impact of incorporating RAP on the rutting performance of asphalt mixes is well reported and that the increased hardness of the binder blend results in the increase in rut resistance of mixes [3,29]. However, this may be most compliant with traditional mixes and not for SMA mixes. For SMA mixes, some literature has reported that the inclusion of RAP did not substantially impact rutting properties [32]. However, for SMA, this could largely be related to the influence of coarse aggregate interlocks and less to binder viscosity.

2.4.3.4 Moisture Susceptibility

Due to the brittle nature of aged binders, the moisture susceptibility of mixtures with RAP is a common concern for practitioners. In one study, mixes were prepared with varying RAP content from 15% to 30% and placed as a base and surface layer [33]. After placement, cores were taken from this pavement and also post two years in service. These samples were then evaluated by moisture susceptibility tests which showed that all the base and surface layer mixes passed the specifications even after two years in service. Further, the visual assessment of the cores found no excessive stripping. In another study, it was investigated whether there would be any apparent differences in performance between the newly introduced high RAP mixes and low RAP mixes that had already been in use [34]. The predisposition to moisture was assessed using the tensile strength ratio (TSR) tests and the findings suggested that the mean TSR values of mixes with RAP and control mixes were similar. One prominent study also investigated the performance of asphalt surfacing mixes with very high RAP contents of upto 50% [35]. Mixtures with 50% RAP showed acceptable resistance to moisture damage and thermal cracking. Satisfactory correlations were also detected among the measured critical temperature of recovered binders and expected ones from the blending chart. Previously in 2009, pavement sections with 50% RAP content were also built on a regional highway in Manitoba, Canada to assess the viability of using high RAP mixes in surface layers. This study mainly focused on the performance against moisture damage and thermal cracking and used both field produced mixes and lab produced mixes. The moisture susceptibility was assessed using the TSR test but with multiple freeze-thaw cycles instead of applying only one cycle. The results specified that all mixes met the minimum requirements i.e. TSR over 80% after one

freeze-thaw cycle, and hence concluded that asphalt mixes with 50% RAP had acceptable resistance to moisture susceptibility in contrast to mixes without RAP or low RAP content (15%). Lastly, it has been reported that for SMA mixes, the TSR in moisture sensitivity tests increased with a higher content of RAP [32].

2.5 Mobilisation and Blending Phenomena

The significant variability in results reported above when incorporating RAP into mixtures is mainly due to the many unknowns in the mix design. One of the biggest apprehensions is regarding the extent of RAP binder mobilised and subsequently blended with the virgin binder during mixing. This area is the main focus of this dissertation and is a critical design variable that can significantly alter and affect mixture performance.

During mixing, the aged binder covering RAP aggregates is activated and becomes available to be mixed with the virgin binder. However, questions remain regarding various facets of this process. Firstly, what proportion or is all of the binder covering RAP aggregates available to be mixed with the virgin binder? Further, how well do the aged binders that are mobilised during mixing blend with the virgin binder? These extents of how these factors influence a mixture plays a significant role in the overall mixture performance. For example, if the mix design assumes all the binder covering RAP aggregates is available to be mixed with the virgin binder aggregates is available to be mixed with the virgin binder and the virgin binder covering RAP aggregates is available to be mixed with the virgin binder when some of it is unavailable to be mixed, this creates the potential for creating under-asphalted mixtures which can be easily prone to cracking and moisture damage. On the other end, over asphalted mixtures that can result from not considering the influence of the RAP binder will produce a mix stiffer than expected and an ensuing rich mix. Further, the extent of blending between these different binders will also affect the performance of mixes. The blending scenarios are presented in Figure 2.2. These issues are additionally confounded with the incorporation of recycling agents such as rejuvenators and warm mix additives (WMA).



a) Activated RAP Binder

b) Blending Scenario

Figure 2.2 Mobilisation and Blending Phenomenon in RAP Mixtures

Most specifications assume that all the binder covering RAP aggregates are available to be mixed with the virgin binder [1]. Further, it is presumed that the RAP binder completely homogenises with the virgin binder to generate a homogenous mixture blend with target properties. According to this theory, the RAP binder achieves adequate workability during the mixing process to contribute and fully blend with the added virgin binder. Nevertheless, many research studies have indicated this may not be the exact case in practice [6,36]. There are primarily two opposite cases that have been considered: the mentioned complete availability of aged binder in RAP and the opposite black rock effect, which insinuates of a double coating of RAP binder and virgin binder. The black rock effect also implies that RAP aggregates merely behave as rocks and do not contribute any usable binder to the overall mix design [4]. However, it is now generally believed among practitioners that the aged binder does not behave as a black rock, and its full availability may also not be possible. A more realistic scenario is partial availability of aged binder in RAP wherein some percentage of RAP binder is active and mixes with the virgin binder [36]. Due to these uncertainties, many regulatory frameworks specify caution when defining targets for RAP mixing and blending [5].

Specifically, the extent of RAP binder mobilisation and blending of RAP mixtures have been studied by many researchers in the past using various rheological and chemical techniques [37].

Some researchers used the Hirsch model and other comparable methods to forecast mixture properties including dynamic modulus |E*| of blended binders extracted from mixtures, through matching their master curves measured under laboratory conditions [8,9]. Regarding the chemical methods, gel permeation chromatography (GPC) and Fourier transform infra-red (FTIR) spectroscopy have been the main tools used to assess the extent of blending and RAP mobilisation. Many research efforts have been undertaken using GPC which has consistently shown a nearly linear relationship between the percentage of LMS (large molecular size) and percentage of RAP mobilized [7]. FTIR, by comparison, has been utilised to a lesser extent but also proven to be effective in verifying the mobilisation and blending efficiency of recycled asphalt mixtures [38]. But in many of these previous studies, characterizing the extracted binder required the separation of RAP and virgin aggregate. Hence, a gap gradation or certain aggregate type was usually used. Overall, the results reported by these efforts have been largely variable as some studies have reported a high level of mobilisation and blending may be conceivable [39]. Conversely, studies have also indicated limited or partial mobilisation [36].

Several factors have been reported to influence the level of RAP binder mobilisation and the blending of binders in RAP mixtures. Increasing the temperature of mixing has been shown by several studies to be able to mobilise RAP binder by reducing its viscosity and making it more available to be mixed with the virgin binder [40,41]. Similarly, the duration of conditioning time has been shown to be proportional to the extent of blending between binders [42,43]. Raising the mixing time has also been revealed to increase the level of blending in RAP mixtures [44]. Few studies have also shown that if the RAP percentage is high, additional energy would be needed to mobilise the aged binder [45,46]. The use of additives such as WMA additives as recycling agents is also known to increase the blending of binders by softening the aged binder [36]. When virgin aggregates have high angularity, it has been reported that aged binders may be better mobilised as compared to more rounded aggregate

[39]. Lastly, some other factors such as the surface texture of virgin aggregates, aggregate absorption, mixture reheating, etc have shown to have an influence on this mobilisation and blending process [47,48]. Overall, there is considerable variability in the results available in the literature and there is limited understanding regarding the fundamental interaction mechanisms of the binders which may be contributed to these results.

2.6 Chemistry of Binders

2.6.1 Bitumen

Bitumen is a complex material to study as it is composed of thousands of diverse hydrocarbon molecules and small quantities of heteroatoms like nitrogen, oxygen, sulphur and trace metals [49]. The various properties of bitumen such as binder grade could show large discrepancies, as a result of the different origins of crude oil and the production process such as distillation, cut-back temperature, storage conditions, etc. In terms of molecular structures, bitumen is a mixture of a variety of hydrocarbons: aliphatic, aromatic and a combination of both aliphatic and aromatic. The aliphatic molecules are saturated polycyclic structures, long-chain or branched paraffins or unsaturated olefins. The main constituents of the aromatics are the different polyaromatic structures with their fused rings. Moreover, various amalgamations of these structures are present with saturated hydrocarbon side chains and substitutions of heteroatoms like nitrogen, sulphur, and oxygen. These heteroatoms induce polarity in bitumen with nitrogen and oxygen being the main contributors to it. These atoms generate an inhomogeneous distribution of permanent dipoles and result in some polar interactions and hydrogen bonding. The molecular weight range of bitumen is quite varied ranging from 20-110 carbons and plays an essential role in its various physical properties [50]. The various molecular interactions in the bitumen are the dominant cause for the formation of structures within. The main interactions in bitumen are dispersive interactions, hydrogen bonding interactions, polar interactions, and π - π -interactions. Out of these dispersive interactions are

understood to be the most dominant and have been linked to effect numerous properties of bitumen such as boiling point, viscosity, etc.

2.6.2 Solubility Fractions and Models of Bitumen Structure

The detailed identification of individual bitumen molecules is evidently an unattainable task, however, groups of molecules exhibiting similar chemical behaviour can be grouped or correlated together to identify the building blocks and properties of bitumen. Firstly, the average chemical compositions and functional groups of bitumen were identified using different analytical techniques like mass spectroscopy and infrared spectroscopy (IR) [51]. In general, there is not known any relationship between the functional groups and physical properties, except for the carbonyl and sulphoxide groups which may be used for identifying the extent of oxidation. Various separation techniques based on different properties like molecular size, solubility, polarity, etc have also been introduced. The most frequently used practice is cantered on the partition of bitumen into its polar fractions based on the increasing polarity and polarizability, and referred to as saturates, aromatics, resins and asphaltenes (SARA) fractionation [52,53]. The probable chemical structure for each of these fractions is shown in Figure 2.3 [53]. Saturates, aromatics, resins are often clubbed together as referred to as maltenes as they can be separated from asphaltenes when dissolved in n-alkanes. Asphaltenes have weak molecular interactions with n-alkanes are known to be the building blocks of bitumen, and central to its rheological properties. However, it must be stated that these fractions are not discreet entities by any means but signify experimental limits of an incessant range of molecules, and hence their individual properties could differ even inside a fraction. These SARA fractions are hence composed of different molecular classes. Saturates are mainly composed of paraffins and naphthenes and aromatics are a mixture of paraffin, naphthenes, and aromatics with sulphur containing groups. Resins contain classes of molecules

similar to aromatics with multi-ring structures and heteroatoms. Lastly, the asphaltene fraction consists of paraffins, napthenes, and aromatics in polycyclic structures with heteroatoms.



a) Saturates



b) Aromatics



c) Resins



d) Asphaltenes

Figure 2.3 Molecular structures of bitumen fractions as per polarity-based separation

The precise microstructure of bitumen has been a prolonged topic of discussion for bitumen researchers and various models have been suggested by scientists to explain the structure and dispersion of various molecular fractions in it. The two most commonly used models are presented in Figure 2.4. The most widely used model is the colloidal model wherein bitumen is defined as a colloidal system in which asphaltenes of a higher molecular weight are dispersed in an oily medium of maltenes [54]. This model has been further developed into sol and gel structures, which explains the rheological behaviour with respect to the assumptions of each

model. A sol bitumen consists of highly dispersed non-interacting micelles whereas a gel bitumen consists of organised asphaltenes with a network of agglomerated structures. In terms of its rheological properties sol bitumens generally, show a Newtonian behaviour whereas gellike bitumen has predominantly non-Newtonian behaviour. In reality, most bitumens show properties of both sol and gel structures and transitional rheological properties [55,56]. Another model is a single-phase model, established through the Strategic Highway Research Program (SHRP) and commonly stated as the dispersed polar fluid model [57]. This model based on the polarity of molecules proposes that bitumen is composed of a mixture of various non-polar and polar molecules. The polar molecules are expected to associate by weak forces dispersed within the neutral portion of the material. This premise has been used to develop solubility-based models for bitumen which is based on mutual solubility of molecular fractions and discussed further in the next part of this chapter.



a) Colloidal Model



b) Dispersed fluid model

Figure 2.4 Models of bitumen microstructure [58]

2.6.3 Molecular Interactions

2.6.3.1 Dispersive Interactions

The dispersive interactions in bitumen can also be derived mathematically from electronic polarizability and refractivity using the equation [50]:

$$\alpha = \left(\frac{3}{4\pi N_A}\right) \left(\frac{M}{d}\right) \left(\frac{n^2 - 1}{n^2 + 2}\right) \tag{2.1}$$

Where,

- N_A =Avogadro's number,
- M = Molecular weight,
- d = Density and
- n = Refractive Index.

These interactions are also often termed as "London Forces" and are a result of temporary dipoles, due to fluctuations of electrons around a molecule. Dispersive forces are generally considered to be a weak intermolecular interaction. However, it has been described to be a vital form of interaction between molecules in bitumen and impacts its physical properties.

2.6.3.2 Polar and Hydrogen Bonding

Polar and hydrogen bonding interactions are a result of a disproportion of the electron dissemination in molecules where covalent bonds are used to link atoms with dissimilar electronegativity. Strictly speaking, polar and hydrogen are generally stronger than dispersive interactions for small molecules. However, for larger hydrocarbons with lesser polar groups, dispersive interactions are more dominating. Studies have shown that the extent of polar molecules such as oxygen and nitrogen are relatively small in bitumen but may still affect its rheological properties [50]. Further, bitumen also contains sulphur based molecules, but its electronegativity is known to be very close to that of carbon and hydrogen, which are the building blocks of bitumen.

2.6.3.3 π - π -interactions

In bitumen molecules, π - π -interactions are anticipated to occur among delocalised π electrons [59]. The most common form of these interactions necessitates that one of the two molecules that interact should possess a robust electron-donating or attracting substituent which will allow

for a tangible difference between clouds of electrons that overlap. For systems of aromatics that have four or more fused rings, this contribution is more pronounced. An example of this is when comparting the greater boiling point of polyaromatic hydrocarbons and saturated hydrocarbons. The π - π -interaction is enhanced when an aromatic ring is replaced with a more electronegative element such as nitrogen and oxygen [59].

2.6.4 Solubility Parameters for Bitumen

The physical properties of bitumen are determined by the extents of various interactions among its molecules. One of the methods used to evaluate the strength and characteristics of these interactions is to determine its solubility-based parameters. The solvency of materials can be quantified through its solubility parameters, which are based on the evaluation of the interaction between its molecules in condensed states [60,61]. As bitumen consists of a complex mixture of millions of different molecules with varying degrees and types of interactions between them, parameters to evaluate the mutual solubility between bitumens or between bitumen and an extended agent such as an extender or rejuvenating oil would need to take these interactions into consideration. The earliest works related to bitumen and crude oil solubility used the Hildebrand parameter, which expressed the difference in internal energy of the condensed material and that of an ideal gas of the same material at the same temperature [62,63]. It was mathematically defined by:

$$\partial = \sqrt{\frac{\Delta H_V - RT}{V_m}} \tag{2.2}$$

Where:

 $\Delta H_V - RT$ = Heat of vaporization

 V_m = Molar volume in the condensed phase.

In relation to this, Hildebrand solubility parameters have been shown to demonstrate the commencement of precipitation of asphaltenes and the interaction between asphaltene

molecules. Most test procedures proposed in this regard used various ratios among solvents such as toluene and a precipitant like an n-alkane to predict the onset of precipitation. One limitation of this parameter is that it does not take into account different forces between molecules such as hydrogen bonding and polar interactions, both critical in the case of bitumen. To overcome these restrictions, other studies have used a three-parameter model known as the Hansen Solubility Parameters (HSP) which takes into consideration different interactions between molecules such as dispersion interaction ($\delta_{\rm D}$ MPa ^{1/2}), dipole interaction ($\delta_{\rm P}$ MPa 1/2) and hydrogen-bonding interaction ($\delta_{\rm H}$ MPa 1/2) [63,64]. This approach describes an overall solubility parameter, $\delta_{\rm t}$ (comparable of the Hildebrand solubility parameter), as:

$$\delta_{\rm t}^{\ 2} = \delta_{\rm D}^{\ 2} + \delta_{\rm P}^{\ 2} + \delta_{\rm H}^{\ 2} \qquad (2.3)$$

where the D, P, and H subscripts denote the extent of interactions from the dispersive, polar and hydrogen bonding parameters, respectively. Using these parameters, the relative solubility between two substances can be estimated based on the 'distance' between points in a threedimensional coordinate system corresponding to HSPs in three-dimensional space. This distance is commonly referred to as "Hansen Space". However, determining the solubility parameters for a material like bitumen is a complex task as it includes a heterogeneous mixture of millions of molecules.

An approach that has been used previously consisted of the solubility testing with a large number of solvents with known solubility parameters. The assumption behind it was that a good solvent has a solubility parameter comparable to that of the solute while a poor solvent has a different solubility parameter, this allows for the assessment of the solubility parameter for the material in question i.e. bitumen. Using these, three-dimensional diagrams for the solubility sphere of bitumen can be drawn which entails its entire solubility in Hansen space. Figure 2.5 shows the solubility sphere of the bitumen fractions with three types of different

interactions in the Hansen model. Although Hansen parameters are useful and provide information that quantifies the solubility properties of materials, the process involved in calculating these parameters for bitumen is laborious for routine measurements. A simpler and more practical method to determine the solubility tendencies and internal stabilities of different bitumens are based on an approach termed as the "bitumen solubility model" (BISOM), introduced by Redelius (2000) [64]. This model is a derivative of the HSP model and estimates the extent of the mutual solubility of bitumen molecules at different points in Hansen space. The calculations involved in BISOM are primarily based on the principles of turbidimetric titrations, which was initially used for the determination of asphaltene peptization of bitumen [65]. In this method, titrations are carried out for bitumen using titrants that have different orientations in Hansen space. Each titrant provides information about the solubility and internal stability, with respect to the strength of different molecular interactions between its molecules [66]. Mutually soluble and compatible bitumens would theoretically have comparable relative solubilities in Hansen space and exhibit proportional strength of intermolecular forces such as dispersive force, hydrogen bonding and polar interactions. Prior work has also shown that the rheological properties of binders such as relative viscosities can be correlated to the strength of the various interactions between its molecules [50].



Figure 2.5 Hansen solubility model for bitumen fractions, *adapted with permission from [66]*

2.7 Microstructure of Binders

The microstructure of bitumen has been studied by various techniques. One of the earlier studies used phase-contrast and polarised light microscopy and predicted the two-phase properties of bitumen. Domains of few micrometers were observed and attributed to the saturate fraction [67]. Researchers have also some used techniques like confocal laser scanning microscopy and small-angle X-ray scattering [68-70]. The former reported the presence of ellipse-shaped features dispersed in the bitumen matrix. Although the use of such techniques has been reported, the most popular method to study the microstructure of bitumen has been through the use of atomic force microscopy (AFM) [71,72]. There exist thousands of scientific papers in literature which have employed the use of AFM to study the properties of bitumen, relating it to the various morphological features and rheology. AFM is most commonly used to study and characterise polymeric materials that show phase separation. Using AFM, the structural features of bitumen can be investigated at the length scale of nanometers to micrometers. Many studies have reported the existence of ellipse-shaped structures with height indentations and commonly referred to as "bee structures" as seen in Figure 2.6. The two-phase

morphology can be seen wherein domain bee structures are dispersed in a continuous matrix phase. The chemistry and constitution of these structures have been a topic of research in many studies. Some studies have reported a larger number of bee-structures in binders with a higher asphaltene fraction [72]. It was also suggested that there was a disparity in stiffness along the rippled height of the bee-structure and could be comprised of more polar fractions such as asphaltenes and resins [73,74]. One popular finding was attributing the bee structures to the composition of the non-polar waxes present in bitumen. It was also shown that even after the removal of asphaltenes, the remainder of bitumen showed the characteristic microstructure. Researchers have also proposed a link between the microstructural structures and enthalpy peaks in differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) curves, leading to the assumption that the bee structures may relate to paraffin crystallization [75]. More recently, it has been concluded based on inter-laboratory tests that the interaction between crystallizing waxes and remaining nonwax chemical components in the matrix of the asphalt binder is the governing factor behind the appearance of the bee structures [76]. One of the other theories that have been reported is based on physical mechanisms unlike chemical compositions and is based on surface wrinkling theory [77]. It was suggested that the appearance of the bee structures could be caused by surface wrinkling as a result of the buckling of the bee laminate due to variations in phase stiffness with the continuous phase. However, so far there are no universally accepted conclusions on the origin of these structures and research efforts continue to identify the exact nature of these elusive entities. It is believed that the existence of such microstructures could have a distinct role in its physical and rheological properties of binders. To ascertain the correlation between the microstructure and morphology, many models and formulas have been used and upscaled to understand the different properties of materials. A testament to this is the multi-scale modelling approach that has become popular in recent times wherein bitumen, filler, and aggregates can be considered as microstructures in different length scales.

Nevertheless, no conclusive pieces of evidence have been achieved as of yet, which highlights the complexity of the bitumen material.



Figure 2.6 Bitumen microstructure image from AFM, adapted with permission from [75]

2.8 Bitumen Ageing

RAP binders are generally bitumens that have been through the normal service life of pavement. In this time, its rheological and physical properties are altered due to the ageing process which induces changes in the chemistry of its molecules. Chemical ageing is believed to be the aggregate of the oxidation reactions and polymerisation, and the evaporation of lighter components to a lesser extent [78]. Ageing results in the hardening of the material, which affects the rheological properties of RAP binders as discussed in section 2.3.1. The extent and vulnerability of a binder to undergo ageing naturally depend on inherent factors such as the crude source and manufacturing process. The ageing of bitumen is usually separated into two, short-term ageing and long-term ageing. Short term ageing refers to the ageing of binders in the course of mixing and laying of the mixture, conducted at elevated temperature whereas

long term ageing implies to the oxidation of binders during the service life of the pavement. Short term ageing for binders are replicated by the rolling thin film oven test (RTFOT) and has been demonstrated to increase its viscosity and content of asphaltene by 1-4% [79]. Long term ageing, on the other hand, occurs for a lengthier duration of time and its extent depends on the position of bitumen within the pavement. Top layers of pavement are naturally more exposed to the environment as compared to lower layers. Other factors also contribute to the extent of ageing such as mix formulation, local climate bitumen thickness, etc. Hence, it is difficult to correctly describe and model in-field ageing. A pressurized ageing vessel (PAV) test is commonly used by practitioners to mimic the long-term ageing of binders. Nevertheless, it has been reported to only replicate the ageing level of up to 10 years or less [54]. The service life of pavements can normally extend from anywhere between 5-25 years. Volatilization also contributes to the overall ageing of binders, and is the evaporation of the lighter fractions and is considered a function of temperature. This is mainly a factor in the short-term ageing during production but has minor effects throughout the service life as well. It has been reported lighter oils remaining in the bitumen after the refining process are the primary fractions of volatiles that exist during the mixing process. When crude oil is distilled in a refining process, heavy fractions are split from the lighter fractions. Although lighter oils advance to the apex of the distillation column and heavy fractions to the base, they are never detached fully. Therefore, the amount these lighter fractions remaining in bitumen is variable and dependent on these.

2.8.1 Effect on Chemistry and Rheology

In terms of the SARA fractions, it is observed that the asphaltenes and resin fractions increase whereas the aromatic content decreases. It is widely regarded that aromatics generate resins which in turn generate asphaltenes [80,81]. However, saturates remain unaffected due to their low chemical reactivity. Interestingly, the asphaltenes produced upon aging could be dissimilar from the original due to various polymerisation reactions [82]. Some detailed studies have been

directed regarding bitumen oxidation, which indicated a surge in asphaltenes molecular weight. In addition, H/C, N/C, and S/C ratio were reported to be deteriorating while the O/C ratio increased, which signals that the oxygen uptake of the asphaltenes was emerging corresponding with the release of sulphur and nitrogen [83]. In relation, the rate of asphaltene production has been shown to be fairly linear with time in both laboratory as well as field experiments [79,81]. Ultra-violet (UV) light is also responsible for the increase in oxidation by activating photooxidation reactions [84,85]. Such reactions generate polymerisation of asphaltenes, as well as for the lower fractions such as saturates. It is vital to notice that photooxidation is strongly radiation intensity-dependent as opposed to thermal ageing which is primarily temperaturedependent. Ageing has been a topic of widespread research as it significantly impacts the rheological behaviour of binders. In fact, it can be regarded as the most significant factor that influences the deterioration of properties and the termination of the service life of pavement through cracking issues as discussed as 2.4.3. Viscosity is frequently utilised as a gauge for determining the extent of ageing, wherein an ageing index is defined as the viscosity ratio or as the comparative increase in viscosity versus time [84]. Previous studies have observed that room temperature viscosity increased linearly versus aging time for a time period of up to 15 hours [78]. It has also been described that various types of bitumen show dissimilar kinds of kinetics at high and low temperatures [86].

2.9 Blending of Bitumens

The blending of different bitumens is a common practice to achieve the desired final grade of binder [49]. In the simplest sense, the mixing of aged binder in RAP with virgin binders is a comparable process; although the influence of aggregates and mixing conditions makes it a far more complicated in reality. The current understanding and specifications relating to this are quite similar to that blending of different bitumens, which is often practiced during manufacturing. Generally, it is believed that the mixing of bitumens of different penetrations

gives a combined bitumen of somewhere close to intermediate penetration. This is useful as a rule of thumb for practitioners although there many exceptions to this rule especially when considering the mixing of bitumens with very different compositions such as aged binder and unaged binder. An example of this is the difference observed when bitumens of similar penetration were mixed together and resulted in a penetration maximum. For illustration, the mixing of 65% of one bitumen with penetration of 20 with another bitumen of the similar penetration resulted in a vastly different penetration of 42 [87]. Another indication of this phenomenon is the reported literature regarding the variability in properties of cross blended asphalt binders [88]. Viscosities of asphalt mixtures of blends have shown irregularities when compared with the viscosities of the original asphalt binders. The exact chemistry behind this is still not well understood and it is believed to be a result of an unequal combination of glass transition temperature and asphaltene content. RAP binders are known to contain higher asphaltene contents than virgin binders as a result of the transition of non-polar molecules to more oxygen comprising polar groups. Understanding the fundamental properties of this blending and its response to various pavement stresses is an imperative stage in the selection criterion of both virgin and RAP binders. However, there is little literature available in this regard.

2.10 Summary

The use of RAP is new pavement mixtures has been widely promoted by transport agencies around the world. Such technologies have been shown to potentially improve the sustainability of pavement and also provide comparable pavement performance as 100% virgin mixes. The following findings are summarized from the reviewed literature:

 Many transport agencies around the world allow for RAP content of up to 50% in new pavement mixes. However, on average most mixes have RAP content around 15-20% and rarely go above it.

- RAP binders have generally undergone both short term and long term ageing, which results in considerable changes in its original rheology and chemistry. Hence the distinctive characteristic of RAP binder is its high stiffness as compared to normally used virgin binders.
- The full availability of the binder present in RAP is generally deemed in the design of mixes. Mixes with a higher quantity of RAP (>20%) usually employ the use of blending charts or other similar methods. The accuracy of these charts to correctly predict the mixing phenomena is debatable.
- There is significant inconsistency when it comes to reported literature regarding the performance of mixes with RAP. In general, RAP mixes can deliver satisfactory results when it comes to rutting performance. However, the introduction of RAP may present problems in relation to moisture susceptibility and fatigue cracking.
- The significant variability in results reported when incorporating RAP into mixtures is mainly due to the many unknowns in the mix design. One of the biggest apprehensions is regarding the extent of RAP mobilised and subsequently blended with the virgin binder during mixing. There is inadequate understanding regarding the various facets involved in this phenomenon.
- The unique chemistry of bitumen gives its distinctive microstructural and chemical properties. Ageing, due to the natural oxidation of bitumen over time considerably alters the chemistry of binders.
- Blending of bitumens with different compositions to achieve target grades, such as aged binders with unaged binders is an intricate process. A fundamental understanding regarding the interaction mechanism between aged and unaged binders is deficient.

CHAPTER 3

EVALUATION OF RAP BINDER MOBILISATION AND BLENDING EFFICIENCY

The uncertain degree of RAP binder mobilisation has a substantial impact on the overall performance of RAP mixtures. In this chapter, a novel method to quantify the degree of RAP binder mobilisation and subsequent blending efficiency of RAP mixtures by utilising attenuated total reflectance Fourier transform infrared (ATR-FTIR) spectroscopy as an assessment tool was proposed. Binders were recovered from laboratory bituminous mixtures with different percentages of RAP, prepared under different mixing conditions using glass-based aggregates as tracers. Parameters for assessing the relevant properties were then developed and validated through the means of dynamic shear rheometer (DSR) and gel permeation chromatography (GPC) tests.

Portions of the results and discussion presented in this chapter have been previously published in "Evaluation of RAP binder mobilisation and blending efficiency in bituminous mixtures: An approach using ATR-FTIR and artificial aggregate, Construction and Building Materials 179 (2018), 245-253"

3.1 Experimental Mix Design and Materials

The Marshall mix design was used to prepare the mixtures in this study. The virgin binder used was of penetration grade 60/70 (PEN 60/70) which is a common type of bitumen used locally. The specific gradation of the mixture is presented in Table 3.1. The coarse aggregates (greater than 5mm) and fine aggregates (smaller than 5mm) were local granite rocks. The RAP used was obtained locally from wearing course milling. The RAP binder was extracted as per AASHTO T164 and analysed through Saturate, Aromatic, Resin and Asphaltene (SARA) fractionation as represented in Table 3.2. The SARA fractionation was conducted as per ASTM D2007. The softening point and penetration tests were conducted as per ASTM D5 and ASTM

D36, and the obtained values are presented in Table 3.3. A mechanical mixer was used to mix all the samples for a period of 2 min to reduce variability and discrepancies between samples with regards to preparation [89]. As RAP contains aged binder, the mixtures prepared in this study were designed with consideration of the total contribution of the recycled binder. The binder content of the RAP was determined as per AASHTO T308 and found to be to 5%. For all the mixtures with 0%, 15%, 30% and 50% RAP materials, a total binder content of 5% were chosen.

	Mixture Gradation	RAP gradation
Sieve Size (mm)	Pass ratio (%)	
14	100	100
10	85.0	94.1
5	58.0	87.8
2.36	38.0	70.0
1.18	26.0	50.2
0.6	17.9	32.7
0.3	11.0	19.2
0.15	3.4	9.7
0.075	3.0	3.4

Table 3.1 Mixture Composition

Table 3.2 SARA Fraction of RAP

RAP	Composition (%)
Asphaltene	15.80
Saturate	24.23
Aromatics	19.53
Resin	40.45

Table 3.3 Softening Point and Penetration of RAP

Softening Point (°C)	Penetration (0.1mm)
75.5	29

3.2 Glass Beads as Artificial Aggregate

As the primary objective of this study is to examine the amount of RAP binder mobilisation, the blend of mobilised RAP binder and virgin binder coating the fresh aggregates is of specific interest. In a real blending scenario, it is visually impossible to distinguish between RAP aggregate and virgin aggregates after mixing. Thus, in this study artificial aggregates in the form of borosilicate glass beads were employed. Beads of diameter 12 mm, 10 mm and 7.5 mm were used to make up approximately a 2% fraction of the overall gradation of the mixes by weight by adjusting the original fresh aggregates. Such a small fraction was chosen so that the effect of the glass beads in the mixing process and aggregate interaction would be negligible. The chemical composition and the proportion of glass beads used are shown in Table 3.4 and Table 3.5, respectively. Figure 3.1 shows illustrative images of the glass beads and glass beads dry blended with RAP. Prior studies have successfully used similar types of glass beads to

characterise the mobilisation of RAP binder to virgin aggregates [90]. The consistent dimensions of glass beads make them useful for such studies. However, it does have the drawback of its relatively smooth surface as compared to the naturally rough surface of normal aggregates. To minimise this, the glass beads were initially blended with fresh aggregates to roughen the surface.

Table 3.4 Chemical Composition of Glass Beads

	-
Chemical Composition	SiO ₂ -82%
	B ₂ O ₃ -12.4%
	Na ₂ O-3%
	Sb ₂ O ₃ /As ₂ O ₃ - <0.01%
Density	2230 Kg/m ³
Melting Point	1500°C

Table 3.5 Weight of Glass Beads Used in Each Mixture

Glass Bead Types (*Number)	Weight (in gms)
12mm (*2)	7.17
10mm (*4)	8.88
7.5mm (*6)	7.08
Sum	23.13





a) Original glass beadsb) Glass beads after dry blending with RAPFigure 3.1 Pictures of the glass beads used

3.3 ATR-FTIR to Evaluate RAP Binder Mobilisation and Blending

Previously, chemical methods such as GPC and FTIR have been used to characterise oxidative ageing and its significance on the chemical composition of bituminous binders. FTIR is particularly interesting for researchers and engineers because of its accuracy and ease of use. Also, it does not require a large or controlled lab space in comparison to GPC. There is a prospect that with advancing FTIR research, parameters for mix design and optimisation could be derived from the FTIR results of bituminous binders. FTIR using attenuated total reflectance (ATR) is generally the most preferred method of characterisation as it offers faster sampling with limited preparation and also excellent sample-to-sample reproducibility.

3.3.1 Mechanism of ATR-FTIR

In ATR, evanescent light located in the region of contact between the sample specimen and a crystal of high refractive index is attenuated as a result of molecular vibrations [91]. The nonprism of the ATR-FTIR has an oblong and trapezoidal structure to allow several internal reflections which enhances the absorption spectra. The principle of ATR-FTIR is shown in Figure 3.2 [92]. Some of the major advantages of this method, especially when considering a material like bitumen is that the whole spectrum can be attained without solvent blankout and the chemical influence of the solvent can be averted. The crystal of the ATR consists of a transparent IR material with a high refractive index. The infrared beam generally enters the ATR crystal at an angle of around 45°C and is reflected at the crystal to the sample surface. The light tends to not be directly reflected at the boundary surface but by a virtual layer within the optically less dense samples, termed to as the Goos-Hänchen effect [92]. The portion of the light wave that extends to the sample is termed as the evanescent wave. The intensity of the penetration is reliant on the wavelength, the refractive indices of ATR crystal and sample, and the angle of the entering light beam. Typically, it is in the magnitude of a few microns, and in the spectral regions where the specimen absorbs energy, the evanescent wave will be attenuated. The IR beam is then directed to the detector after one more internal reflection. In order to attain a high-quality spectrum, it is paramount that good contact is achieved between the sample and the ATR crystal as the light only penetrates the samples up to a few microns. In addition, the sample being tested must have a lower refractive index 2.4 was used, which has been shown to be a suitable crystal for studying bituminous binders [93]. An image of a standard Bruker FTIR spectrometer is also shown in Figure 3.3



Figure 3.2 Principle of ATR-FTIR, adapted from [92]



Figure 3.3 Bruker attenuated total reflection FTIR spectrometer

3.3.2 Application to Bitumen

The study of the natural oxidative ageing exposed by bituminous binders has been the prime focus of attention for asphalt researchers using FTIR. The variations in this level of oxidation have been used to correlate changes in the rheological and chemical properties of mixes in the past [6,38]. For the analysis of the obtained FTIR spectra of bituminous binders, many different approaches can be used. The spectra can be examined in its original form or be normalised prior to analysis. Unique values from absorbance bands may be used or a variety of wavenumbers could be considered by integrating the area underneath an absorbance spectrum in between a defined wave number. Lastly, the foundation for finding the area can be either using a tangential or an absolute baseline. One previous study used a statistical approach to study the repeatability and sensitivity of various FTIR analysis methods [94]. From the conclusions, it was advocated to work with a normalised spectrum, utilise an absolute baseline and integration of areas in favour of other approaches as it offers the most consistent results with regard to sample repeatability and sensitivity. As it is the most comprehensive work in

recent times regarding FTIR analysis of asphalt binders, this study also employs the use of those recommendations as the basis of its analysis approach.

In asphalt binder chemistry, the carbonyl band (C=O) exhibited at around 1700 cm⁻¹ and the sulphoxide band (S=O) exhibited around 1000 cm⁻¹ of a bitumen spectrum are the major functional groups used to gauge the level of oxidation. However, the carbonyl band has been more commonly used and known to better correlate the level of long term ageing [6]. Binders extracted from RAP materials exhibit significantly higher levels of C=O bonds due to the natural oxidation of asphalt binder during the producing process and service period on pavement whereas virgin binders exhibit little or no C=O bond at this wavelength. This difference in oxidation can be utilised to approximate the amount of RAP mobilisation and blending in mixtures [38]. Figure 3.4 shows the FTIR spectrum of the RAP binder and the virgin binder, which shows the clear oxidation peak at the wavelength of around 1700 cm⁻¹ for the RAP binder. Also indicated in Figure 3.4 is the analysis area of the FTIR spectra.



Figure 3.4 FTIR spectra of the virgin binder and RAP binder

The analysis approach of the various FTIR spectra involved the integration of areas, normalised spectra, and absolute baseline. Hence, the parameter for one spectrum can be defined as

$$IA = \int_{w_{l,oa}}^{w_{u,oa}} VA_{norm}(w) \, dw \tag{3.1}$$

where IA is the normalised integrated area using an absolute baseline at an absorbance value of 0; $w_{u,oa}$ is the upper wavenumber limit for the structural group; $w_{l,oa}$ is the lower wavenumber limit for the structural group and VA_{norm}(w) is the normalised absorbance at wavenumber w. The lower and upper wavenumbers for the carbonyl structural group was defined from 1666 to 1746 cm⁻¹ [94]. The detailed analysis approach is further described in the appendices, section A.1.

Using Equation (1) as the basis, the parameters for characterising RAP mobilisation and blending efficiency were established. The binder recovered from the glass beads is expected to have a considerable amount of RAP binder mobilised as a result of the mixing process. In this study, a concept that the RAP binder is considered at 100% RAP character whereas virgin binder has 0% of RAP character was used. Based on this, a parameter to estimate the percentage of RAP binder in the recovered binders was developed. This parameter is used to represent the RAP mobilisation and can be described as follows:

Percentage of RAP Binder Recovered (%) =
$$\frac{IA_{BS} - IA_{VB}}{IA_{RAP} - IA_{VB}}$$
*100 (3.2)

where,

 IA_{BS} is the IA of the recovered binder from the respective sample;

 IA_{VB} is the IA of the virgin binder;

 IA_{RAP} is the IA of the RAP binder.

The term "blending efficiency" has been defined differently in many studies, and it has been previously used to describe various types of RAP binder mobilisation through the development of special parameters [38,95]. In this study, the idea of using artificially blended RAP binder

and virgin binder to create an efficiency baseline was used. For example, when RAP binder and virgin binder are artificially mixed in the laboratory and then used to prepare asphalt mixtures, it is reasonable to conclude that the asphalt mixture with such kind of blended binder has full blending efficiency, whereas the asphalt mixture prepared with RAP, fresh aggregates and binder can be considered to have a blending efficiency of less than 100%. The FTIR index i.e. the IA produced from the binders with full blending efficiency can be employed to create the baseline for calculating the blending efficiency of the binders in the asphalt mixtures with RAP materials assuming homogeneity of mixing [96].

Average Blending Efficiency (%) =
$$\frac{IA_{BS} - IA_{VB}}{IA_{AB-i} - IA_{VB}} * 100$$
 (3.3)

where

 IA_{AB-i} is the IA of the artificially blended binders; and i is the percentage of RAP binder.

993.4 Experimental Procedure and Methods

The results of the proposed parameters from the FTIR tests were validated through rheological and chemical evaluation using Dynamic Shear Rheometer (DSR) and GPC tests, respectively. Control mixtures with 15%, 30% and 50% RAP percentages were prepared at the temperatures of 135°C and 165°C as illustrated in Table 3.6. Regarding the mixing process, the glass beads were heated with the virgin aggregates at approximately 10°C higher than the sample mixing temperature before adding the pre-heated RAP [89]. Three replicates for each type of sample were prepared. Lastly, artificially blended binders with 15%, 30% and 50% RAP binder to virgin binder content referred to as AB-15, AB-30 and AB-50 in this study were also prepared. After mixing, the glass beads were collected as shown in Figure 3.5 and the binder was recovered using Trichloroethylene (TCE) solvent. Minimal temperature was used in the extraction process to negate any additional aging effects. The recovered binders were characterized through ATR-FTIR analysis using a Bruker Vertex 70 Hyperion 1000

spectrometer with a diamond ATR module. A resolution of 4 cm⁻¹ was used to record the spectra from 4000 to 400 cm⁻¹ in a reflective mode. 3 samples were analysed for each mixture. Following each test, the optics were thoroughly cleaned using solvent and acetone. The DSR tests were conducted using an Anton Paar DSR machine as shown in Figure 3.6. The tests were conducted at the frequency range of 0 to 30 Hz at 30°C. The GPC studies of the recovered binder samples were tested using a Shimadzu Prominence GPC system using two styragel columns as illustrated in Figure 3.7. GPC is based on size exclusion and molecules are separated on the basis of size. When a material with a combination of different molecules such as bitumen (dissolved in solvent) is applied to the top of the column, the smaller molecules are dispersed through a greater volume of gel than is accessible to the large molecules. Hence, the large molecules move more swiftly through the column and the mixture can be fractionated into different components as shown in Figure 3.8. These components are usually clubbed into different size ranges based on a distinct series of sizes, such as large molecular sizes (LMS), small molecular size (SMS) and medium molecular size (MMS). Importantly, a nearly linear relationship exists between the percentage of LMS (large molecular size) and the percentage of RAP mobilised [7]. Tetrahydrofuran (THF) was used to dissolve the binders to the required concentration and subsequently filtered through a 0.2 µm filter for testing. Subsequently, the large molecular size (LMS) percentages were calculated for the recovered binder as follows [97,98]:

$$LMS\% = \frac{\text{Area of first}\frac{5}{13} \text{ of chromatogram}}{\text{Toal Area below the chromatogram}} * 100$$
(3.4)

The detailed analysis approach is further described in the appendices, section A.2.

Table 3.6 Control Samples Prepared

Temperature	RAP Content	Legend
135°C	15% RAP	15% RAP-135
	30% RAP	30% RAP-135
	50% RAP	50% RAP-135
165°C	15% RAP	15% RAP-165
	30% RAP	30% RAP-165
	50% RAP	50% RAP-165



Figure 3.5 Glass beads recovered after mixing



Figure 3.6 Dynamic shear rheometer (DSR)


Figure 3.7 Gel permeation chromatography system



Figure 3.8 Principle of size exclusion in GPC [99]

3.5 Results and Discussion

3.5.1 Temperature Effect on RAP Mobilisation and Blending Efficiency

Initially, the recovered binders from the control samples were analysed using Eq (3.2) and the results are represented in Figure 3.9. It was observed that at all percentages of RAP added, there was significantly more RAP mobilised at a higher temperature than at a lower temperature. The mixtures prepared at 165°C showed on average close to 30% higher RAP mobilisation than mixtures prepared at 135°C. The results obtained are in accordance with other reported studies in which it was ascertained that in a mixing process, the RAP mobilisation is highly conditional on temperature [95,97]. The increase in mobilisation with temperature was more obvious at a higher RAP content as compared to a lower RAP content. It is likely that the additional availability of RAP aggregates may promote added interaction and mobilisation of RAP binder with the increase in temperature during the mixing process.



Figure 3.9 Percentage of RAP binder recovered for control samples

The blending efficiency was calculated using Eq (3) and represented in Figure 3.10. It was observed that the samples mixed at the temperatures of 165°C showed a higher efficiency of blending as compared to the samples mixed at 135°C. The samples with 50% RAP showed the highest average efficiency of blending as compared to the samples with 15% and 30% RAP

contents. Approximately, the blending efficiencies ranged from 50% to 60% for the samples prepared at 165°C and from 30% to 40% for the samples prepared at 135°C. Among the samples with different percentages of RAP, those with 50% RAP showed the highest difference in blending efficiency with the change in mixing temperature. A previous study reported that the highest RAP mobilisation rates and subsequent blending efficiencies were obtained at lower RAP content as opposed to higher content [39]. In this study, however, the blending efficiency was seen to be in a similar range for all RAP mixtures and mainly dependant on the temperature of mixing. This could be mainly attributed to the level of ageing and chemical nature of the RAP material. However, the exact influence of these factors is still unknown and is assessed in the next chapters.



Figure 3.10 Blending efficiency of the control samples

3.6 Validation of the Proposed Parameters

To validate the results attained from the proposed ATR-FTIR method, the rheological and chemical properties of the recovered binders were tested. Frequency sweep tests were firstly conducted to evaluate the rheological properties of the binders using DSR. The rationale for using such tests is that if the higher temperature can mobilise more RAP binder, then the resultant extracted mixture of RAP and virgin binder should be considerably harder and exhibit

higher complex modulus |G*| especially at lower frequency ranges [97]. Figure 3.11 shows the G* values exhibited by the RAP binder in comparison to the virgin binder and the artificially blended binders at 15%, 30% and 50% RAP binder contents. It was observed that even 15% RAP binder could have one log increment for the value of G*. When the amount of RAP binder was increased to 30% and 50%, their G* values did not change to a comparable extent. It is worth noticing that this result was acquired from the artificially blended binders. Hence, when considering the reduced blending efficiencies of asphalt mixtures with RAP, the expected differences in G* between the extracted binders are less. Figures 3.12, 3.13 and 3.14 show the frequency sweep tests of the various binder samples prepared at different temperatures and in comparison, to the artificially blended binder of the equivalent RAP proportion. It was observed that for all tests, the samples prepared at higher mixing temperature indubitably showed higher G* values which indicate that those respective binders contain significantly more RAP binder as compared to the samples prepared at a lower temperature. However, the artificially blended binders showed even higher G* values which demonstrate that a normal mixing process cannot obtain the same level of RAP binder mobilisation as artificial mixing. Although these tests cannot quantitatively confirm the results of the FTIR tests, they verified that the approach using the proposed method is representative of the actual mixing that occurs.



Figure 3.11 Frequency sweep test at 30°C



Figure 3.12 Frequency sweep test at 30°C at 15% RAP content



Figure 3.13 Frequency sweep test at 30°C at 30% RAP content



Figure 3.14 Frequency sweep test at 30°C at 50% RAP content

GPC analysis has been extensively utilised in asphalt research in the past and found to be suitable to correlate ageing behaviour of binders. The LMS percentages obtained from the tests have also been successfully correlated with the extent of oxidation and ageing by various studies in the past [97,98]. The chromatogram of the virgin binder and RAP binder is presented in Figure 3.15 and the results obtained using Eq (3.4) for the LMS percentages of the various binders are presented in Figure 3.16. The LMS percentage attained from the RAP binder was 12.5%, which is significantly higher than the value of 5.9% for the virgin binder. For the

artificially blended binder with 50% RAP binder, the LMS percentage was 10.9% which is higher than the LMS percentage of 50% RAP-165 sample (10.4%), while the LMS percentage of 50% RAP-135 sample was only 9.8%. The same tendency was found in the LMS percentages of the binders with RAP contents of 15% and 30%. The samples prepared at a higher temperature of 165°C, in general, showed a higher percentage of LMS, which indicates that more RAP binder has been mobilised in those mixtures as compared to the samples prepared at 135°C. But even those samples do not reach the LMS percentage exhibited by the artificially blended samples which suggests that the mixtures prepared cannot reach full efficiency.



Figure 3.15 Illustrative chromatogram of the RAP binder and virgin binder



Figure 3.16 LMS (%) obtained from GPC testing

3.7 Conclusions

In this chapter, a novel method is employed to quantify the degree of RAP binder mobilisation and subsequent blending efficiency of RAP mixtures. The following points summarise the chapter:

- Indexes were developed using attenuated total reflectance Fourier transform infrared (ATR-FTIR) spectroscopy which indicated the degree of mobilisation of RAP binders and subsequent blending efficiency.
- Glass beads of various sizes were used as tracers in mixtures to separate some virgin aggregates from prepared mixtures.
- Mixtures were prepared using the Marshall mix design method using 15%, 30% and 50% RAP content, at two different temperatures.
- Binders were recovered from these mixtures and evaluated using the developed indexes. It was seen that the RAP mobilisation is highly dependent on temperature, the mixtures prepared at 165°C showed on average close to 30% higher RAP mobilisation than mixtures prepared at 135°C.

• These results were validated through the means of dynamic shear rheometer (DSR) and gel permeation chromatography (GPC) tests. Parameters such as complex modulus of binders and large molecular size percentage (LMS %) were used to evaluate the validity of the FTIR indexes.

It is worth noting, though, that the glass beads used in this study do not exactly represent the identical nature and texture of the real aggregates used in bituminous mixtures. Additionally, the blending efficiency parameter assumes full blending to create the efficiency baseline. Although it is useful for practical purposes as per the current understanding of the materials, it may not capture the complete nature of the blending process. Hence this parameter is not considered in the subsequent chapters of this dissertation.

CHAPTER 4

EFFECT OF MIXING VARIABLES ON RAP BINDER MOBILISATION

This chapter is divided into 2 parts. In the first part, the effect of different warm mix additives (WMA) on RAP binder mobilisation was assessed. Following this, the variability of this mobilisation subject to the use of different RAP materials used is evaluated. Analyses were performed on the RAP binders through chemical composition analysis using saturates, aromatics, resins, and asphaltene (SARA) fractionation and microstructural characterisation using optical microscopy to identify the probable mechanism dictating the mobilisation phenomena. Lastly, the implications of these results in terms of the mixing process are discussed.

Portions of the results and discussion presented in this chapter have been previously published in "Evaluation of RAP binder mobilisation and blending efficiency in bituminous mixtures: An approach using ATR-FTIR and artificial aggregate, Construction and Building Materials 179 (2018), 245-253"; "Variability of RAP binder mobilisation in hot mix asphalt mixtures, Construction and Building Materials 201 (2019), 502-509"

4.1 PART A. Effect of Warm Mix Asphalt (WMA) Additives

4.1.1 Background and Types of WMA

One of the issues with using high proportions of RAP in new pavement mixtures is related to the increased stiffness and workability issues. Practitioners have recently started to address this with the utilization of WMA additives, which allows for the construction of pavement at lesser temperatures than traditional HMA by increasing the workability of mixtures. The use of WMA also brings considerable environmental and economic benefits. There are more than 30 different types of WMA products available in the market these days, and can be broadly divided into 3 categories-

- Foaming additive (mechanical foaming and foaming additives)
- Organic additives
- Chemical additives

4.1.1.1 Foaming Additives

The process of foaming requires small amounts of water which is achieved by directly injecting into hot binder or into the mixing chamber. When the water at lower temperatures interacts with the hot binder, it evaporates quickly, and the steam is entrapped. A considerable volume of foam is generated by this effect which results in the rise in the volume of the binder, leading to the reduction of its viscosity. There are mainly two methods used to inject water namely the water-based method (direct method) or water containing method (indirect method) [100]. The former injects the water directly during the blending process of asphalt and aggregate. However, this requires specific equipment to achieve the foaming process. The later on the other hand uses synthetic zeolite-based additives to produce the foaming effect. These are hydrothermally crystallised and contain around 20% of water which can be released as the temperature rises. Commercial products based on this technology mainly include Advera (PQ Corporation) and AsphaMin (Eurovia and MHI).

4.1.1.2 Organic Additives

Organic additives are mainly composed of wax [101]. It is believed that when the mixing temperature rises above the melting point of the additive, there is a decrease in binder viscosity. As the mixture cools, the additives solidify into equally dispersed particles which heightens the binder's stiffness. However, it has been reported that the addition of such organic additives compromises the low-temperature performance of mixtures as a result of the increased

brittleness of the binders. Some of the most commonly used organic additives include sasobit and asphaltan.

4.1.1.3 Chemical Additives

Most of the chemical additives are made from proprietary materials and its constitution varies significantly. It is believed that these additives use chemical energy to replace part of heat energy to improve the workability of mixtures. These additives are known to contain a combination of emulsifying agents, surfactants and polymers which are then added to binders at different dosages dependent on the product used. Some of the reported temperature reductions that can be achieved using such chemical additives range from 15-75°C [101]. Some of the most commonly used chemical additives include Evotherm DAT, Evotherm 3G, and Rediset.

4.1.2 Experimental Mix Design and Materials

The same mix design procedure as the one applied in Chapter 3 was used in this study. The specific gradation of the mixture is presented in Table 4.1 (same RAP source as the one used in Chapter 3). Four different types of commercially available WMA additives were chosen in this study including wax-based, foaming and chemical additives. The details of the additives used are presented in Table 4.2 and Figure 4.1 respectively. As per the same process described previously, glass beads of different sizes that represented a 2% fraction of the mixture were used.

Table 4.1 (Gradation	of Mixture	for WMA	Mixtures
-------------	-----------	------------	---------	----------

	Mixture Gradation	RAP gradation	
Sieve Size (mm)	Pass ratio (%)		
14	100	100	
10	85.0	94.1	
5	58.0	87.8	
2.36	38.0	70.0	
1.18	26.0	50.2	
0.6	17.9	32.7	
0.3	11.0	19.2	
0.15	3.4	9.7	
0.075	3.0	3.4	

Table 4.2 Warm Mix Additives Used

Additive Type	Name	Dosage	Legend
Wax Based	Sasobit	1.5% by weight of binder	Saso
Foaming	Asphamin	0.3% by mixture weight	Aspha
Chemical	Evotherm DAT	5% by weight of Binder	DAT
	Evotherm 3G	0.5% by weight of Binder	3G





Figure 4.1 Pictures of the warm mix additives

4.1.3 Experimental Procedure and Methods

4.1.3.1 Preparation of Samples and Mixing Process

Control mixtures with 15%, 30%, and 50% RAP percentages were prepared at the temperatures of 135°C and 165°C as illustrated in chapter 3. Additionally, mixtures with the same proportion of RAP were also prepared using the warm mix additives at the temperature of 135°C. The WMA was first added to the virgin binder before subsequent mixing with aggregates [102]. After mixing, the glass beads were collected, and the binder was recovered using Trichloroethylene (TCE) solvent. In addition, binders were also prepared by mixing the virgin binder with the recommended dosage of WMA using a high shear mixer for viscosity tests.

4.1.3.2 Viscosity Tests

To measure the viscosities of various warm binders, Brookfield viscosity tests were conducted in accordance with ASTM D4402 using a DV-II Brookfield rotational viscometer. The samples were conditioned in the thermo-container for about 30 min at the chosen test temperature before testing.

4.1.3.3 Method for Evaluating RAP Binder Mobilisation

The RAP Binder mobilisation was estimated based on the method described in the previous chapter using the ATR-FTIR spectra of each binder samples. The integrated areas (IA) under the carbonyl group of each spectrum was used to determine the extent of RAP binder mobilisation. This parameter is used to represent the RAP mobilisation and can be described as follows:

Percentage of RAP Binder Recovered (%) = $\frac{IA_{BS} - IA_{VB}}{IA_{RAP} - IA_{VB}} * 100$ (4.1)

where,

IA_{BS} is the IA of the recovered binder from the respective sample;

IA_{VB} is the IA of the virgin binder;

 IA_{RAP} is the IA of the RAP binder.

The binders were examined using a Bruker Vertex 70 Hyperion 1000 spectrometer mounted with a diamond ATR module to obtain this parameter. The spectra of each binder were measured in reflective mode from 4000 to 4 cm^{-1} with a resolution of 4 cm^{-1} .

4.1.4 Results

4.1.4.1 Viscosity

Warm mix additives are generally expected to reduce the viscosity and improve the flow characteristics of the asphalt binders at lower temperatures. Most early WMA literature revolved around this idea and the subsequently reduced production temperature as a result [103]. Before testing for the mobilisation parameter, the viscosities of various binders were measured at the warm mixing temperature of 135°C and at a higher temperature of 165°C as presented in Figure 4.2. It was observed that at 135°C, the warm binders have considerably lower viscosities than the virgin binder. But at 165°C, this difference is less significant. Therefore, the warm binders offer better workability at lower temperatures but as the mixing temperature increases, this effect is less obvious specifically with regard to the virgin binder used in this study. The foaming additive Asphamin was not used in the viscosity study, because its working nature makes it unsuitable for this test.



Figure 4.2 Viscosities of the warm binders

4.1.4.2 Effect of WMA on RAP Binder Mobilisation

The recovered binders were tested according to the mobilisation parameter to assess the percentage of RAP binder recovered. As illustrated in Figure 4.3, all recovered warm binders exhibited a higher percentage of RAP binder than the control sample prepared at 135°C. Among different warm mix additives, the chemical additive DAT showed the highest capability to mobilise RAP binder. At 30% RAP content, Asphamin additive also showed higher mobilisation capability than the control sample prepared at 165°C. Asphamin is a synthetic zeolite-based foaming additive which temporarily causes the binder to be smoother and more workable [104]. This effect during mixing could have instigated the increased mobilisation of the RAP binder. Prior studies have also reported similar effects of foaming-based additives on RAP binder mobilisation and blending [95]. When considering the addition of an additive like Evotherm DAT, the increase in RAP binder mobilisation can be expected. Such additives contain a larger number of "surface-active agents" or surfactants that have both polar and nonpolar properties. During the mixing process, these surfactants tend to gather at the interface of asphalt and aggregates. The polar parts are attracted by the aggregates and the non-polar part attracts the binder. The surfactant thus acts as a lubricant and allows the binders to easily cover

the surface of the aggregate. This will naturally increase the interaction between the RAP aggregates and binder which may induce more RAP binder mobilisation. However, the mechanism of mobilisation is still theoretical at this stage and possibly unique to each additive chemistry. Additionally, as the warm mix additives were seen to have lower viscosities at the mixing temperature, the influence of the overall workability of the mixture on binder mobilisation is also likely. These could have practical implications and are discussed in the next part of this chapter.



Figure 4.3 Percentage of RAP binder recovered for warm mix samples

4.2 PART B. Effect of RAP Type

4.2.1 Background

When considering the mobilisation and blending of RAP binders, there is significant variability of results available in literature as pointed out in Chapter 2. This indicates that seemingly looking for universally applicable quantitative answers may not be the correct approach as there is considerable inconsistency in materials used when contemplating a highly inconsistent material such as RAP. Nearly all studies conducted so far have characterised the level of blending and mobilisation with the respective materials of the study, while none have analysed their materials characteristics in-depth, which in turn could have prompted the observed results. This is a significant drawback as one of the main material characteristics of importance in a RAP mixture is the specific RAP material used. It is likely that the binders in different types of RAP will be mobilised and blended differently with virgin binders, depending on their specific rheology and chemical properties. This, in turn, will have a considerable effect on the final performance of mixtures. Hence, it is important to comprehend the variability in this mobilisation, and the physical and chemical properties of RAP that may influence it.

4.2.2 Experimental Mix Design and Materials

A similar design method was employed as Chapter 3 but with different RAP materials. The three different sources of RAP were obtained locally from wearing course milling and named RAP-1, RAP-2, and RAP-3, respectively. The specific gradations of the three RAP mixtures are presented in Table 4.3. However, only RAP above 0.6mm was used in this study to prevent excessive clustering of RAP fines. The binders from each RAP were extracted according to the procedure specified in AASHTO T164 and the conventional properties of the extracted binders and the virgin binder are presented in Table 4.4. The mixtures in this study were prepared with consideration of the whole contribution of the recycled binder. AASHTO T308 standard was followed to determine the binder contents of the RAP, which were found to be 5.4%, 5.7 %,

and 5% for RAP-1, RAP-2 and RAP-3, respectively. For all the mixtures with 15%, 30% and 50% RAP materials, a total binder content based on the binder content of the respective RAP was chosen. A mechanical mixer was used to mix all the samples for a period of 2 min to reduce variability between samples with regards to preparation. Lastly, as per the same process described previously, glass beads of different sizes that represented a 2% fraction of the mixture were used.

	Mixture Gradation	RAP Gradation (%)		
Sieve Size (mm)	Passing ratio (%)	RAP-1	RAP-2	RAP-3
14.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00
10.00	85.00	90.70	95.60	94.23
5.00	58.00	68.15	73.46	58.87
2.36	38.00	49.02	50.22	35.46
1.18	26.00	33.81	32.73	25.54
0.60	17.90	23.31	21.80	19.32
0.30	11.00	14.84	16.13	14.60
0.15	3.40	8.31	11.96	9.85
0.08	3.00	4.27	6.92	5.42

Table 4.3 Gradation of the Various Mixtures

Table 4.4 Conventional Rheological Properties

	RAP-1	RAP-2	RAP-3	Virgin Binder
Penetration (0.1 mm, 25°C)	34.0	39.0	46.0	69.0
Softening Point (°C)	61.5	57.5	53.5	48.0

4.2.3 Experimental Procedure and Methods

4.2.3.1 Preparation of Samples and Mixing Process

Mixtures with 15%, 30%, and 50% RAP were prepared using each type of RAP and virgin materials. All samples were prepared at the standard hot mixing temperature of 165°C. After mixing with the virgin binder, all the glass beads were collected from the loose mixtures. The binders were removed from the glass beads of each respective mixture as a single entity using trichloroethylene (TCE) solvent for further analysis.

4.2.3.2 Method for Evaluating RAP Binder Mobilisation

The RAP binder mobilisation was evaluated using Eq (4.2) as per the method using the ATR-FTIR described in section 4.1.1 and is not discussed here again.

4.2.3.3 Viscosity

To measure the viscosities of various RAP binders, Brookfield viscosity tests were conducted in accordance with ASTM D4402 using a DV-II Brookfield rotational viscometer. The samples were conditioned in the thermo-container for about 30 min at the chosen test temperature before testing.

4.2.3.4 Saturates, Aromatics, Resins and Asphaltene (SARA) Fractionation

The SARA fractionation into saturates, aromatics, resins, and asphaltene components was conducted as per ASTM D2007 to determine the chemical compositions of the different binders. In this test, the asphaltenes and maltenes were firstly separated using isooctane. The separation of the maltenes fraction into saturates, aromatics and resins were conducted using a glass liquid chromatography column with chromatographic grade activated alumina. The three fractions were subsequently eluted using different solvents, such as n-heptane, methanol, toluene and trichloroethylene.

4.2.3.5 Optical Microscopy

To study the microstructures of the various binders, a customised optical microscope from Leitz Ergolux equipped with a 100X objective was used, following the procedure described in a previous study [105]. An unmodified version of this microscope is shown in Figure 4.4. The samples were illuminated using a 20W halogen lamp emitting a spectrum peaked at 630 nm. To prepare the testing samples, a tiny amount of binder was placed onto a microscopic slide and then heated to around 140°C using a heater. The heating was stopped once the bitumen melted and flowed. The samples were then left to cool to room temperatures before testing. The detailed setup of the microscope is further discussed in the appendices, section A.3.



Figure 4.4 Optical Microscope

4.2.4 Results

4.2.4.1 RAP Binder Mobilisation

The binders recovered from the prepared mixtures were evaluated using Eq (4.2) and the results are presented in Figure 4.5. It can be seen that RAP-1 and RAP-2 showed similar mobilisation trends, whereas, in comparison, RAP-3 showed higher mobilisation tendencies. In general, the results suggest that the mobilisation of the RAP binder is lesser when the RAP content in the mixture is higher. At 50% RAP content, mixtures prepared with RAP-1 and RAP-2, showed around 20% and 22% of RAP character in the recovered binders, whereas the mixtures prepared with RAP-3 showed a higher percentage of 28%. At all percentages of RAP, the binder in RAP-3 was able to be mobilised at a higher rate as compared with RAP-1 and RAP-2. RAP-3 showed on average around 35% -50% higher mobilisation rate than RAP-1 whereas the difference between RAP-1 and RAP-2 was only around 10%. However, from these results, it can be inferred that a sizeable percentage of RAP binder seems to be unavailable to be mixed with the virgin binder under these mixing conditions. Thus, there is a high possibility of producing

under-asphalted mixtures at high RAP contents if full blending is assumed, which may lead to several pavement distresses [106].



Figure 4.5 Percentage of RAP binder recovered from binder samples

4.2.4.2 Viscosity

It is important to understand the various influences that govern the RAP binder activation process so that specific considerations can be considered to design mixes. One of the most apparent factors that could be involved in the mobilisation process is the workability of the RAP binder. If the RAP binder is unworkable and highly viscous at the mixing temperature, it is unlikely that it would contribute much in a mixing process, especially in order to create a homogenous film around virgin aggregates. Viscosity tests were conducted to evaluate if an obvious relationship existed between binder workability and mobilisation capability, and the results are presented in Figure 4.6. RAP-1 was the stiffest binder exhibiting the highest viscosities at all testing temperatures, followed by RAP-2 and RAP-3. At the mixing temperature of 165°C, RAP-1 had a viscosity of around 540 cP, RAP-2 had a viscosity of 470 cP and RAP-3 had the lowest viscosity of 210 cP. As expected, the RAP binders that are more workable may be more susceptible to be mobilised during a mixing process with virgin binder and aggregate. The viscosity results obtained may also explain the effect observed by other

researchers wherein the mobilisation capability increased with temperature, which in essence is a reduction in viscosity and increase in workability of RAP binders [36,38].



Figure 4.6 Viscosities of RAP binders

4.2.4.3 SARA Fractionation

Although viscosity may be a good indicator of RAP binder mobilisation capability, it can only explain the mobilisation phenomenon partially. In order to fully comprehend the mechanism involved, it is necessary to analyse the materials from microscopic and chemical perspectives. Ultimately, the chemical compositions of binders dictate their field performance when used in an asphalt mixture. The precise chemical composition of bitumen is complicated and impractical to interpret experimentally. As mentioned in the literature review, it is common to separate bitumen into its polar fractions i.e., saturates, aromatics, resins, and asphaltenes, which have shown to have a convincing relationship with rheological properties [107,108]. These chemical fractions represent a continuous spectrum of polar molecules and are not isolated units in the bitumen matrix. Although the original sources of bitumen are different in the case of the RAP binders, the SARA fractions can still give some useful information regarding its chemical nature and polarity-based mobility tendencies. The SARA fractionation for the

various binders was conducted as per the method described in section 4.2.3.4 and the results are presented in Figure 4.7.

The ageing of binders generally first leads to a decline in aromatic content and the subsequent increase in resin and asphaltene content. It is hypothesised that the aromatics generate resins which are then converted into asphaltenes [54]. When comparing the different binders, one obvious difference is the asphaltene content. The asphaltene contents of RAP-1, RAP-2, and RAP-3, were 15.89%, 13.24%, and 12.5%, respectively. But as the original fractions of the binders are unknown, it is difficult to suggest any additional correlation other than this deviation, which is known to influence binder stiffness. Moreover, the asphaltenes produced during ageing can differ from those present initially as reported by some studies [82]. The micelles of asphaltene are understood to dispersed in an oily medium of maltenes, i.e., saturates, resin and aromatics. These micelles are thought to be asphaltenes along with a stabilizing layer of aromatic resins of high molecular weight. The viscosities of the maltene components are dependent on the molecular weight distribution. This viscosity accords a fundamental viscosity to bitumen which is then increased by the asphaltene components.

It is interesting to note that the saturate content in RAP-3 was around 24%, which is considerably higher than the other RAP binders. Higher fractions of saturates have been known to soften bitumen as it can increase the inherent mobility of the chemical fractions [54]. Looking factually at the SARA fractions of the different RAP binders, it is reasonable to conclude that RAP-3 will have higher mobile tendencies than the other RAP binders studied here, and this phenomenon would be accentuated with the increase in temperature and mixing time. Although the SARA compositions and viscosity tests can shed some light on the RAP binder activation phenomenon, it cannot however fully explain the specific interaction of the RAP binder with the virgin binder during mixing. This is discussed further in the subsequent part of this chapter.



Figure 4.7 SARA fraction of binders.

4.2.4.4 Optical Microscopy

Microscopic studies were conducted using an optical microscope to study the various microstructural features of the RAP binders as illustrated in Figure 4.8. The characteristic distinct domains or "bee" structures were observed in all 3 binders. However, their size, appearance, and dimensions differed significantly. Smaller and less defined bee structures were observed on the surface of RAP-1 and RAP-2, whereas RAP-3 showed more distinct and sharper structures. The bee structures are commonly attributed to the "catana" phase which is known to be surrounded by the dispersed "peri" phase, both phases representing apparent interfacial differences in the bitumen matrix [109]. The exact chemistry and rheology of the phases are still being debated as mentioned in Section 2.7. However, it is believed that the properties of the microstructures influence the bulk properties of the binder, such as stiffness, and viscoelasticity. Long-term ageing has been known to significantly affect the microstructural features of asphalt binders, and the smaller bee structures observed here at 100X magnification are characteristic of aged binders reported in the literature [110]. The appearances of these structures and their differences most certainly depend on different properties of the binder, such as composition and intermolecular mobility. The saturate content

of binders has been reported to be a dominant factor causing the appearance of such bee structures as a result of the ratios of the various chemical components in the binders and its effect on the overall polarity at the surface [111]. For RAP-3, the formation of relatively larger structural entities suggests that the mobility of its molecules is relatively higher. Conversely, for the stiffer binders, such as RAP-2 and RAP-1, the structure formation is much smaller and more dispersed. This suggests that either the composition of these binders is not amenable to form structures or the intermolecular mobility is low or both, but their mobility is lower, and they cannot reach their low-energy position, creating indented and detached borders, and hence more domain structures [112]. Examining these differences in light of other information such as the differences in viscosity and relative SARA fractions suggests that RAP-3 has higher molecular mobility compared to the other two RAP binders. It is also important to note that although these structural features are primarily surface entities, it is the macroscopic properties of the bulk that induces these attributes.



a) RAP-1

b) RAP- 2

c) RAP-3

Figure 4.8 Microstructure images of RAP binders

4.3 Mechanism of Mobilisation

From the tests conducted in this chapter, it can be ascertained that in a conventional hot mixing process, the rate of mobilisation of RAP binder is subject to the specific mixing conditions, and

also the chemical and rheological properties of the RAP used. Using this understanding, it is possible to predict the mechanism of RAP binder mobilisation in a mixture. As reported by many other researchers, there is likely a layer of active binder that exists around RAP binder which can be mobilised during the mixing process with the virgin binder, as shown in Figure 4.9 [113]. During the mixing process, the mobilised RAP binder interacts with the virgin binder and virgin aggregates to form a binder blend that will subsequently coat all aggregates in the mixture. However, the amount of mobilised RAP binder will differ, contingent on the type of RAP used and other conditional variables, such as temperature, mixing time and overall workability of mixtures, which in principle can also alter RAP properties to induce mobilisation [6, 36].



c) After Mixing

Figure 4.9 Mixing process of RAP with virgin binder and aggregate

Although viscosity may be a good practical indicator at this stage to ascertain the ability of RAP binder to mobilise, it can only partially explain the complete RAP mobilisation and blending phenomenon. It is important to also comprehend the effect of the virgin binder on RAP. In a mixing process, the virgin binder acts as a solvent of sorts and "rejuvenates" the RAP binder. Depending on this interaction or compatibility between the binders, some RAP binder can also be activated in this manner. Further, compatibility between two binders can be defined in terms of solubility. If a virgin binder is completely or partially soluble in RAP binder or vice versa, it is rational to conclude that some RAP binder is mobilised and blended in this process. The solubility parameters for bitumen have been previously described for representing the solubility of solvents in bitumen. However, it can also be applied to appreciate the solubility of various bitumen fractions with each other, which is essentially what occurs during a mixing process [64]. The basis of solubility parameters has been explained in Chapter 2 and can be traced back to the single parameter solubility factor (δ_T), which is based on liquid cohesion energy and molar volume [60]. Single parameter solubility factors can be further divided into Hansen solubility parameters (HSP): dispersion interaction (δ_D MPa^{1/2}), dipole interaction (δ_P MPa^{1/2}) and hydrogen-bonding interaction (δ_H MPa^{1/2}). Using this, the relative solubility between two substances can be estimated using the 'distance' between corresponding HSPs in three-dimensional space and referred to as Hansen space [114]. This idea further explored in this the next chapters of this study, including its effect on mobilisation and chemistry of combined blends.

4.4 Findings and Conclusions

In this chapter, the effect of WMA and different RAP materials on RAP binder mobilisation was evaluated using the ATR-FTIR method developed in Chapter 3. Further physical, chemical, and optical analyses were conducted on the RAP binders to understand the probable mechanism

that may dictate its mobilisation. The following conclusions could be drawn after the laboratory tests:

- In general, some WMA additives can help to increase the mobilisation of RAP binder as compared to mixtures prepared without WMA at the same temperature.
- Different WMA additives showed different ability to mobilise RAP binder. The RAP mixtures prepared with the chemical additive Evotherm-DAT and foaming additive Asphamin showed the highest tendencies to mobilise RAP binder.
- RAP binder mobilisation considerably varies, depending on the nature of RAP used in the mix. However, a considerable amount of RAP binder remains immobilised regardless of the RAP source.
- The RAP binders exhibiting a lower viscosity at mixing temperature showed higher tendencies to be mobilised.
- From the SARA fractionation tests, no clear trend with mobilisation could be gathered. However, the chemical composition of a binder can indicate the mobilisation potential of its fractions.
- From the optical microscopical studies, it was seen that the binders exhibiting lower viscosity showed a less degraded surface microstructure and higher molecular mobility.
- To fully comprehend the mechanism of interaction and compatibility between RAP binders and virgin binders, solubility parameters or related properties could be useful.

4.5 Implications for Mixture Design

As the quantity of RAP used in mixtures continues to increase, it is critically important for practitioners to consider the actual amount of active and reusable RAP binder available in these mixtures. As seen from the results obtained in this Chapter, there is significant variability in

RAP binder mobilisation differs significantly between different RAP sources and also with the use of WMA additives. Therefore, a one fits all approach may not be appropriate. At this stage, the best practical option suitable would be to use viscosity as a parameter to assess RAP variability. Binders exhibiting high viscosity may be regarded as incompatible to be used as active binder replacement in RAP mixtures or may require special mixing conditions such as increased mixing time and temperature. In terms of WMA additives use in RAP mixtures, no general conclusion for mixture design can be reached. Overall, there is a need to develop specifications exclusive to RAP wherein the amount of residual binder added could be catered to the detailed rheological properties of the RAP used.

CHAPTER 5

COMPATIBILITY OF MIXING AGED AND UNAGED BINDERS

Asphalt binders in bituminous mixtures with reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) comprise fractions of both aged and unaged binders, designed to exist as a single entity. However, their mechanism of interaction and blending is still not well understood. In this chapter, a fundamental measure of compatibility between aged binders and unaged binders was evaluated exercising an extension of the HSP model of solubility. Various binders consisting of an unaged binder, RAP binders, and artificially aged binders were tested using a method of turbidimetric titrations, to identify the internal stability of the binders and relative extents of different intermolecular interactions in terms of dispersive forces, hydrogen bonding, and polar interactions. These findings were further corroborated by chemical composition analysis based on SARA fractionation. The implications of these findings on RAP binder mobilisation and binder blending are also discussed.

Portions of the results and discussion presented in this chapter have been previously published in "Characterization of compatibility between aged and unaged binders in bituminous mixtures through an extended HSP model of solubility, Fuel, DOI: 10.1016/j.fuel.2019.05.161"

5.1 Background on Bitumen Compatibility and Solubility

During the mixing process in RAP mixtures, the virgin binder can be regarded as a solvent for the aged binder coating RAP, which dissolves and "rejuvenates" it, to the extent where some or all the RAP binder will become available to be blended with the virgin binder. It is therefore critical to understand and model the interaction between the RAP binder and virgin binder, as its scope will affect the amount of RAP binder available to be mixed. Although it can be argued that high mixing temperatures and mechanical energy of mixing may ensure a reasonable blend between RAP binder and virgin binder, the question remains whether such forced blends of different binders can remain homogenous and stable over long periods of time. A promising method to model this interaction between the RAP binders and virgin binders is based on mutual solubility and compatibility.

Every bitumen is unique and contains millions of different molecules with varying polarities and two main schools of thought exist regarding the co-existence of these diverse molecules. One suggests that these molecules synchronize with each other in a dispersed state in the bitumen matrix, whereas the other suggests that these molecules tend to form associations based on their relative polarities, and the associated molecules exist in the form of a stable colloid [64,115]. When considering the mixing of RAP binder and virgin binder in mixtures, if the RAP binder is completely soluble in the virgin binder, it can be inferred that the RAP binder is mobilised during mixing and the blended mixture is mutually compatible. However, if there is partial solubility and incompatibility between binders, it is problematic to assume full blending and mobilisation. Such scenarios introduce the possibility of producing underasphalted mixtures which can lead to long term implications in terms of performance, especially in relation to moisture damage and fatigue cracking [36]. As mentioned in the literature review, approaches such as the bitumen solubility model (BISOM) which is a derivative of the HSP model of solubility may be used to gauge the various solubility related tendencies of different binders and the identify the relative compatibility between them.

5.2. Materials

Nine binders from various sources were evaluated in this study, a typical unaged virgin binder of PG high-temperature grade of 64, four field aged binders extracted from different RAP sources labeled RAP-1, RAP-2, RAP-3 and RAP-4, and four laboratory aged binders named AARAP-1, AARAP-2, AARAP-3, AARAP-4. All RAP binders used in this study met the local specifications for reusability and were extracted from the RAP according to the procedure specified in AASHTO T164. The artificially aged binders were prepared from unaged binders of PG high-temperature grades of 58, 64, 70 and 76, using the rolling thin film oven (RTFO) method followed by the pressurized aging vessel (PAV) method as per standards AASHTO T 240– 09 and ASTM D 6521, respectively. All chemicals used in this study were of laboratory grade purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific.

5.3 Experimental Methods and Procedure

5.3.1 Titration Procedure

The titration procedure followed in the study was based on the principle of turbidimetric titrations [66]. According to this principle, if two liquids with varying solubility parameters are reciprocally soluble, the solubility parameter of the whole mixture will be comparative to the amount of each liquid, which can be described by the following equation:

$$\delta = \frac{(\phi^i \,\delta^i + \phi^j \delta^j)}{(\phi^i + \phi^j)} \quad (5.1)$$

where ϕ is the volume fraction of each liquid *i* and *j*. Using this equation, the solubility property of a material can be calculated. Experimentally, the substance under investigation is titrated in solution using a non-solvent till precipitation ensues. In this study, 0.75 gms of bitumen was dissolved in 2 ml, 3 ml and 4 ml solutions of toluene in a closed flask to prepare three solutions of varying concentrations. The solutions were subsequently titrated with a nonsolvent in 1 ml aliquots until flocculation was observed, which is the point of precipitation. Three different non-solvents were chosen for this study, namely iso-octane, 2-butanone, and 2ethyl-1-hexanol. These solvents were specifically chosen based on prior studies that calculated the HSP for bitumen, relating it to the various molecular interactions in the solubility model [64]. As the HSP represents the extent of interactions on three orthogonal scales, i.e., dispersive forces, polar interactions, and hydrogen bonding, it is important to select a minimum of three solvents that demonstrate a diversity of magnitudes along each one of these three scales. Table 5.1 shows the HSP of the solvent, non-solvents, and bitumen. The HSP of bitumen is based on an average of 15 different binders as reported in the literature [116]. Isooctane, illustrative of the dispersive forces has low dispersive interaction and no polar or hydrogen bonding influences. 2-butanone indicative of the polar interactions has high polar interaction along with high dispersive forces and low hydrogen bonding. Lastly, 2-ethyl-1-hexanol indicative of the hydrogen bonding interactions has high dispersive and hydrogen bonding interactions but low polar interactions. The HSP points were plotted in a 3-D graph along with the HSP sphere of bitumen with radius 5.5 MPa^{1/2} as seen in Figure 5.1. The HSP sphere details the solubility of bitumen in Hansen space [114] and can be calculated using the following equation:

$$Ra^{2} = 4(\delta_{d1} - \delta_{d2})^{2} + (\delta_{p1} - \delta_{p2})^{2} + (\delta_{h1} - \delta_{h2})^{2}$$
(5.2)

Where:

R_a=distance between a solvent and bitumen,

 δ_{d1} (or δ_{p1} or δ_{h1}) = dispersion component of the solvent,

 δ_{d1} (or δ_{p1} or δ_{h1}) = dispersion component of bitumen.

HSP of good solvents such as toluene fall close to the center of the solubility sphere of bitumen whereas those of poor solvents fall outside or close to the edge of the solubility sphere.

	$\delta_{\rm D} ({\rm MPa}^{1/2})$	$\delta_{P} (MPa^{1/2})$	$\delta_{\rm H} ({\rm MPa}^{1/2})$
Toluene	18	1.4	2
Iso-octane	14.3	0	0
2- butanone	16	9	5.1
2-ethyl-1- hexanol	16	3.3	11.9
Bitumen Avg.	18.6±0.3	3.9±0.2	3±0.2

Table 5.1 HSP of Toluene, Titrants and Bitumen



Figure 5.1 HSP of toluene and titrants in the HSP sphere of bitumen

As mentioned, the titration was conducted until flocculation occurred for each sample. Different methods have been reported to determine the point of flocculation for bitumen [117], such as placing a drop of solution on a filter paper and looking at the precipitate formed, examining a drop of solution through a microscope and automated methods using UVspectrometers. This work adopted an improved version of the filter paper method to evaluate
the point of flocculation. After the addition of each 1 mL aliquot of the titrant, a small drop was removed from the titration solution and placed on a filter paper. The procedure was continued after the addition of each aliquot until the formation of two distinct rings, which indicates the beginning of flocculation, was observed [65]. Figure 5.2 shows a sample image of a bitumen specimen and sequence of formed drops (from left to right) after the addition of each aliquot of non-solvent until flocculation occurred as an example. The total volume of titrant added at the flocculation point was noted.



Figure 5.2 Images on filter paper after the addition of each aliquot of titrant (left to right)

Although the exact point of flocculation can be detected by eye at the concentrations and volumes used in this work, the results of each titration were corroborated using image analysis with MATLAB to eliminate any bias that may be introduced. The analysis algorithm calculated the difference in colour intensities as one transverse from the center of the circular drop to the outer edge using the Image Processing ToolboxTM. Through trial and error, and validation of the results with the flocculation point detected by eye, a difference of above 30% between the intensity of the inner core and the outer annular ring was set as the point of flocculation. Figure 5.3 shows a sample calculation using the analysis method. The use of filter paper with simplified image analysis can be a potential approach in the future to expand this method in a manner that is easy to perform, objective and repeatable.



Figure 5.3 Colour intensity analysis of titration results

After determining the flocculation point for each titration, two parameters, namely flocculation ratio (FR) and concentration (C), were calculated using the following equations [117]:

$$FR = \frac{V_S}{V_S + V_T} \qquad (5.3)$$

$$C = \frac{W_A}{V_S + V_T} \tag{5.4}$$

Where Vs is the volume of solvent, V_T is the volume of titrant and W_A is the weight of bitumen. The values for FR and C at each of the three bitumen concentrations were plotted on a graph. Linear regression was conducted through the precipitation points and the straight line was extrapolated to cross the x and y axes. The intercepts were denoted as FR_{max} and C_{min} for the corresponding axes. FR_{max} is regarded to be related to the peptizability of the least soluble components in bitumen whereas C_{min} is related to the stability of the respective bitumen [118]. Figure 5.4 illustrates the extrapolation technique.



Figure 5.4 Extrapolated graph of FR vs C

Following this, further calculations were conducted to obtain the solubility related parameters of bitumen for the different binders used in this study. The letters in the following equations were designated by the type of interaction as follows: dispersive interactions with iso-octane were termed with the letter D, polar forces with 2-butanone were termed with the letter N, and hydrogen bonding interactions with 2-ethyl-hexanol were termed with the letter H. The parameter D_a (or N_a or H_a) was calculated as follows:

$$D_a = 1 - FR_{max} \tag{5.5}$$

This parameter specifies the solubility of the most insoluble molecules in bitumen. The next parameter D_0 (N₀ or H₀), denoting the solubility power of bitumen, was calculated by:

$$D_0 = FR_{max} \left[\left(\frac{1}{c_{min}} \right) + 1 \right] \qquad (5.6)$$

Finally, parameter D (or N or H) was calculated as shown below. This parameter gives an indication of the internal stability of a bitumen sample:

$$D = \frac{D_0}{1 - D_a} \tag{5.7}$$

As the bitumen was titrated with titrants having distinctive solubility parameters concerning the three types of molecular interactions in the HSP Model, the parameter D (or N or H) gives the stability of bitumen in these different solvents. Therefore, this parameter D (or N or H) also serves by extension as an indicator of the relative strength of the respective interaction in it. Nevertheless, it must be emphasized that the parameters N and H do not exclusively indicate the polar and hydrogen bonding-driven interactions since the selected solvents were not solely polar or hydrogen bond-driven. Rather, these terms would indicate more polar or hydrogen bond leaning solubility tendencies.

5.3.2 Saturates, Aromatics, Resins and Asphaltene (SARA) Fractionation

The SARA fractionations of the various bitumen samples were conducted using a method described in a previous work, and different from the standard ASTM method presented in Chapter 4 [119]. This method, which is divided into two parts, was developed at the University of Texas at Austin and referred to as "TexSARA". The first part was the solubility-based separation of asphaltenes and the extraction of maltenes. The second part was a chromatography-based separation of the maltenes fraction into saturates, aromatics and resins. A small amount of bitumen was first dissolved in n-heptane by stirring at room temperature. The undissolved asphaltene was filtered using polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) based syringe filters of pore size of 0.2 µm. This method of asphaltene-maltene filtration is known to separate higher amounts of asphaltenes compared with other conventional methods, which is important in the context of this work. The separated maltene (in the n-heptane solution) was then applied on a solid-phase extraction (SPE) cartridge which contains silica gel. In three steps, in increasing order of polarity, three solvents namely n-heptane, toluene, and dichloromethane were used to elute the three maltene-based fractions of bitumen. The solvents are pushed through SPE cartridges by the action of gravity and vacuum. Figure 5.5 shows a sample elution of the aromatics fraction through SPE cartridges at three different phases. The detailed procedure regarding this method is presented in the appendices, Section A.4.



Figure 5.5 Elution of aromatics through SPE cartridges [119]

5.4. Results and Discussion

5.4.1 Internal Stability and Intermolecular Interactions

The various parameters corresponding to the dispersive, polar and hydrogen bonding interactions were calculated as explained in the previous section. The results for D, H and N are presented as "triangles" in Figure 5.6 (RAP binders and virgin binder) and Figure 5.7 (PAV aged binder and virgin binder). First, it is important to understand the premise and concept of intermolecular interactions in bitumen. Bitumen can be described as a complex mixture of molecules with varying molecular weights that are dependent on the source and individual chemistry of any given binder. The molecules in this mixture relate with one another through various intermolecular interactions and associations as described earlier. An indication of the stability of these molecules as a colloid or a dispersed phase, and the relative strength of these interactions are represented by the D, H and N parameters shown in the figures.

5.4.1.1 Dispersive Forces

Based on the results presented, one substantial difference between the unaged binder and aged binders is the dispersive forces. Previous research has indicated binders exhibiting low values of D, of close to 2, such as some of the aged binders seen in this study may exhibit low peptizability and could be thermodynamically unstable, hence making it unsuitable to be reused [64]. As mentioned in Chapter 2, the dispersive interactions in bitumen can also be derived mathematically from electronic polarizability and refractivity using the following equation:

$$\alpha = \left(\frac{3}{4\pi N_A}\right) \left(\frac{M}{d}\right) \left(\frac{n^2 - 1}{n^2 + 2}\right) \tag{5.8}$$

Where,

 $N_A = Avogadro's$ number,

M = Molecular weight,

d = Density and

n = Refractive Index.

Dispersive forces are generally considered as a weak intermolecular interaction. However, it has been reported to be an important form of interaction between molecules in bitumen that determines its physical properties [50].

5.4.1.2 Polar and Hydrogen Bonding Interactions

The most notable difference between aged and unaged binders in terms of intermolecular forces is polar interactions, which is expected to play a significant role in the mobilisation and blending of RAP binder. The extents of polar interactions exhibited by the aged binders were noticeably different as compared to the unaged binder. This difference was more discernible in the field aged RAP as compared to the artificially aged binder. This may be due to the fact that some of the artificially aged binders were polymer modified, and PAV ageing may not accurately simulate the ageing that occurs in the field, especially in terms of UV ageing, which has been shown to appreciably alter the chemistry of binders in terms of polarity [120].

At the molecular level, polarity is the separation of charge within a molecule. All of the naturally occurring heteroatoms, such as nitrogen, sulphur, and oxygen, contribute to bitumen polarity. Upon ageing, the oxidation products formed are polar and further contribute to the overall polarity of the system [57]. The extent of hydrogen bonding also showed similar trends as the polar interactions as it is also mainly based on the content of more electronegative elements such as oxygen and nitrogen. At the intermolecular level, a critical aspect of polar molecules is the attraction towards each other as a result of their separated charges, forming chains of interaction. These can be illustrated using simple schematic diagrams as shown in Figure 5.8 [22]. The association of these molecules to their most stable thermodynamic state is a combination of electrostatic and other short-range forces. With ageing, the freshly oxidized sites have a pronounced effect on polarity and newer associations are formed in larger numbers than the original binder. The rates of these associations depend upon the number of sites and the magnitudes of the attractions. The stronger the attractions, the greater the driving forces to associate. It is evident that the increase in polarity affects the mobility of molecules and can create immobilization of polar components through molecular agglomeration, thereby affecting other intermolecular associations, such as molecular dispersion [121]. When considering the mixing of aged binders and virgin binders in RAP mixing, the possible increased associations could have a significant effect in terms of the blending and stability of the combined binders. This will be discussed in detail in the next sections.



Figure 5.6 Strength of intermolecular interactions in RAP binders and virgin binder



Figure 5.7 Strength of intermolecular interactions in artificially aged binders and virgin binder



Figure 5.8 Polar associations between molecules

5.4.2 Implications of Intermolecular Forces on RAP Binder Mobilisation

One of the considerations in the design of mixtures with RAP is the availability of aged binder from RAP. Many studies have investigated the performance of mixed blends through the mechanical mixing of unaged and aged binders [122]. Although this is useful to understand the basic rheology of combined binders, the actual mixing process is far more complex, and the question remains as to whether or not such blends are compatible and consequentially stable over long periods of time.

As the aged binder exists as a layer covering RAP aggregates, a better hypothesis of this, is the blending achieved through mechanical mixing and molecular diffusion driven by energy imbalances and polar attractions. Most studies have indicated that there is partial mobilisation and blending of RAP binder during the mixing process [37]. Further, the extent of this mobilisation has been shown to be variable, dependent on many factors. These factors can be broadly classified as extrinsic, such as mixing temperature, retention time at mixing temperature and mixing method, and intrinsic to the material, such as mutual compatibility of the RAP binder and virgin binder. Extrinsic factors, such as temperature and retention time, can increase the extent of interaction between aged and unaged binders. Specifically, high

temperatures can increase molecular mobility and retention times can allow molecules to further interact with each other. However, it is the combination of the extrinsic with the intrinsic factors that dictate the extent to which the aged binder is activated, mobilised and blended with the virgin binder. Furthermore, the mere blending of aged RAP and virgin binder facilitated by extrinsic factors does not necessarily imply that the final blend is homogenous and stable in the long term. This degree of blending would be governed by an inter-diffusion process wherein the aged and virgin binder would diffuse into each other at a molecular level [123]. The level of the intermolecular agglomeration and strengths of molecular interactions will affect the level of diffusion and long-term stability of the blend.

Considering this, highly aged RAP binders would need to be mixed with chemically compatible virgin binders with special mixing conditions like higher temperatures and mixing time in order to mobilise it and achieve a homogenous blend.

5.4.3 SARA Fractionation

The SARA fractions of the various binders were determined as per the method described and the results are presented in Figure 5.9. Although the original sources of bitumen were different for different binders, the SARA fractions can still provide useful information regarding their chemical nature and polarity-based tendencies. The two often opposing models of bitumen are based on the "colloidal model" and the "dispersed fluid model" respectively, and their perceived differences in microstructure are already well established in the literature [54]. However, when considering the polarity-based fractions, i.e., SARA fractions, these models are not contradictory, with each model having its respective application. Through the polar fractions, bitumen can be modelled as a discretization of a chemical continuum with a gradual increase of polarity. Using the titration method in this study, which is based on a dispersed fluid model, the total polarity distribution of each bitumen as a whole can be gauged, whereas the SARA fractions can quantify the different polar fractions in it. The extent of these fractions will naturally affect the overall intermolecular interactions and internal stability of each bitumen. Moreover, SARA fractionation is also a well-developed practice and its correlation with the blending of different bitumens is established [54].

The ranking of bitumen fractions by the increase in polarity is saturates, aromatics, resins, and asphaltenes. The ageing of bitumen generally first leads to a decline in aromatic content and the subsequent increase in resin and asphaltene contents. It is hypothesised that the aromatics generate resins which are then converted into asphaltenes. Studies have shown that the asphaltene content could be the controlling factor that determines the overall solubility of a bitumen system [124]. When considering the SARA fractions for the various binders, the highest asphaltene content was observed for the field aged RAP binders, followed by the artificially aged binders and virgin binders. The asphaltene contents calculated using this method usually range from 15%-20 % for unaged binders to 25% -35% for PAV aged and field aged binders [119]. Asphaltene and resin fractions are known to possess heteroatoms that are strongly linked with polar functional groups. Hence, their increase is known to increase the overall polarity in bitumen.

Further, it has been reported that aged binders can possess amplified molecular clustering due to increased polar associations, and aromatization of reactive compounds which make bitumens more planar and susceptible to asphaltene agglomeration [125]. Studies on the binder energies for unoxidized and oxidized asphaltene dimers have shown that the total values of intermolecular interactions are stronger for oxidized forms as opposed to unoxidized forms and hence expected to increase agglomerations, leading to the hardening of bitumen [126]. The effect of these increased agglomerations when considering mixing aged binders with unaged binders is a relevant influence that needs to be deliberated.



Figure 5.9 SARA fractions of binders

5.4.4 Influence of Polarity and Solubility on Virgin-RAP Binder Blends

From the results obtained from the BISOM parameters and SARA fractionation, aged binders and virgin binders are fundamentally different in terms of chemical composition and intermolecular interactions. These differences are consistent with the broad understanding of the materials established in the literature. When considering the mixing of different bitumens, it is hypothesized that compatibility between them would be dictated by the mutual solubility of an assortment of components, each having varying solvating powers [127]. The solubility of bitumen blends would be dependent on the force of attraction and repulsion within and around the molecules in the blend. Relating it to the solubility parameters, a bitumen blend can be considered to be most well dispersed and stable when all contributing segments have similar solubility parameters. The underlying concept around this being the correlation between cohesive energy density and mutual miscibility [128]. Cohesive energy density is described as the energy that holds bitumen molecules together, and its measure in each bitumen is dependent on the various intermolecular forces. Oxidation of bitumen greatly affects the interaction energy between molecules and hence the cohesive energy density. Increased cohesive energy densities are correlated to increased molecular agglomeration and consequently an increase in polarity [128]. In a stable and well-dispersed bitumen, a delicate balance would exist between its various agglomerated and dispersing components. When considering the effect of introducing a component with a higher polarity into the bitumen blend, such as during the mixing of RAP binders with virgin binders, depending on the strength of the intermolecular force, it may exhibit a governing influence on the overall molecular interactions leading to the variability of the blend. Consequently, in a bitumen blend with RAP, to obtain sufficient solvency of the increased fractions with higher polarity, the solvency power of the maltenes must be comparable to fully disperse them. If not, it is possible that blended mixtures could have heterogeneous components that are insufficiently dispersed to achieve a stable binder, displaying peculiar rheological behaviour.

An indication of this phenomenon is the reported literature regarding the unpredictability in properties of cross blended asphalt binders [88]. Viscosities of asphalt mixtures of blends have shown irregularities when compared with the viscosities of the original asphalt binders. These irregularities usually occur when one of the bitumen contains a large concentration of high molecular weight asphaltenes and the other bitumen has a maltene phase of solvent power different from that of the first bitumen. The change in maltene solvent power then causes a change in the degree of aggregation of the high molecular weight asphaltenes in the mixture. Further, it has also been shown that asphaltenes from different sources had different effects of blend rheology when added to the same maltene fraction. With the increase in oxidation and overall molecular agglomeration of RAP binders, this effect could be accentuated, resulting in blended bitumens that may not be fully solvated.

In order to achieve a stable blend at different RAP proportions, the RAP binder would need to be mixed with sufficiently solvable bitumens. This is preferably achieved on an individual basis as although different RAP binders may exhibit similar rheological characteristics, they may be different in chemical compositions [127]. Most current specifications on RAP mixture design are insufficient as they are often simplistic and calculate blend composition based on some parameters such as penetration and PG grading [1]. Although this may be acceptable for low RAP contents, for high RAP mixes, this can lead to poor quality and incompatible bitumen prone to premature failure. The next chapter evaluates the detailed chemistry and interaction mechanism between new and aged binders in combined blends of RAP binder and virgin binder.

5.5 Findings and Conclusion

In this chapter, the compatibilities between new and aged binders were evaluated in terms of intermolecular interactions using an extension of the HSP model of solubility. The following findings and conclusions could be drawn from the tests:

- The turbidimetric titration method using the selected titrants effectively detected the differences between aged and unaged binders in terms of relative internal stability and intermolecular interactions.
- The analysis of the titration results indicated that the most notable differences between unaged and aged binders were in terms of polar interactions and dispersive forces. These differences were consistent with the existing understanding of the nature of aged binders.
- These results were validated through SARA fractionation, implying that the greater asphaltene content of the aged binders could significantly contribute to the extent of polar interactions in them, providing additional validation for the proposed procedure.
- Different virgin-aged binder pairs showed different extents of similarity based on the solubility parameters calculated, and consequently are expected to have different extents of mutual compatibility.

- It is likely that a stable blend of virgin and aged binder can be achieved if the solvency power of the virgin binders can full disperse the molecular agglomeration in the aged binder.
- Special mixing conditions such as increased temperature and mixing conditions may improve the relative compatibility between binders, in relation to aged binder mobilisation and blending. However, its effect on long term performance needs to be further evaluated. This is discussed in the next chapter of this dissertation.
- A limitation of this procedure is that the titration procedure adopted can only indicate the relative differences with respect to the various intermolecular interactions in the bitumens tested. An automated titration procedure may be adopted for a more precise measurement of the different solubility-based parameters.

CHEMISTRY OF COMBINED BLENDS AND IMPLICATIONS ON BLENDING

In this chapter, an investigation into the interaction mechanism between new and aged binders in binder blends was conducted. Various blends comprising fractions of aged and unaged binders were evaluated using a method of turbidimetric titrations, to identify their internal stability and relative extents of intermolecular interactions in terms of dispersive forces, hydrogen bonding, and polar interactions. Further chemical and rheological tests were conducted using FTIR, GPC, and DSR to evaluate the unique chemistry and rheology of combined blends. Using these results, the possible interaction mechanism between aged and unaged binders and its effect on mixture design are discussed

6.1 Background

One of the most significant limitations that prevent higher use of RAP is the lack of information concerning the variables involved in the blending of aged binder in RAP with the virgin binder during the mixing process. Even though many studies have been conducted regarding these issues, no conclusive and commonly applicable results have been found [37]. Specifically, a fundamental understanding regarding the interaction between new and aged binders is deficient, which leads to difficulties in predicting the performance and thermodynamic stability of the blend [37]. The mixing of aged and unaged bitumen is an intricate chemical process and involves the molecular interaction of various bitumens fractions that come together to form new associations. It is also important to bear in mind that aged bitumens are also markedly oxidized as a result of the natural ageing process of binders, which not only increases the stiffness but also causes significant changes in its chemical composition [120]. These changes increase the relative extent of polar fractions in these binders leading to the possibility of amplified associations among its molecules [121]. It is reasonable to expect that mixtures of

virgin and aged binders may exhibit different extents of intermolecular interactions in comparison to the original sources as a result of the various new molecular associations formed during mixing, and subsequent homogenisation. Therefore, the features involved in mixing these fundamentally different binders to create a blend with target properties is a critical aspect that needs to be explored and verified using different methods. In fact, such a fundamental understanding is also vital to engineer recycling agents, modifiers and other alternative materials that can be used as a binder extender. As seen in Chapter 6, binders of varying ageing levels when evaluated using a modified BISOM titration method showed that aged binders and virgin binders could differ noticeably in terms of intermolecular interactions [129].

6.2 Materials

Two different aged binders were used to prepare the various blends in this study. The binders were extracted from two sources of RAP according to the procedure specified in AASHTO T164 and named as RAP-1 and RAP-2 respectively. The virgin binder used was a commonly used local binder of PG high-temperature grade of 64 and low-temperature grade of -12°C. Artificially blended (AB) mixes of the binders were prepared by blending the virgin binder with three different proportions of RAP at 15%, 30% and 50% by weight to prepare two series of binders. The mixing was conducted at a temperature of 165°C using a mechanical mixer, and the blended binders were labelled as AB-15-1, AB-30-1 and AB-50-1 for the binders prepared using RAP-1 and AB-15-2, AB-30-2 and AB-50-2 for the binders prepared using RAP-2 respectively. All chemicals used in this study were of laboratory grade purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific. It is well recognized that the complete blending of virgin binder and RAP binder is dependent on temperature, mixing duration, and other factors. However, it is important to note that the goal of this study was not to emulate field blending, rather study the compatibility of blends.

6.3 Experimental Procedure and Methods

6.3.1 BISOM Titration

The titration was conducted as per the method described in section 5.3.1 of Chapter 5 and is not repeated here again. Using this method, parameters D, H and N were obtained which refer to the relative extents of intermolecular interactions in terms of dispersive interactions (D), polar interactions (N) and hydrogen bonding interactions (H).

6.3.2 FTIR Spectroscopy

The FTIR tests were performed on the samples to identify the differences in oxidation exhibited between them. The carbonyl band (C=O) exhibited around 1700 cm⁻¹ of an FTIR spectrum was used to quantify the oxidation of different binders [37]. As per the method, as mentioned in Chapter 3, the analysis approach of the various FTIR spectra involved the integration of areas, normalised spectra and absolute baseline. Mathematically, the area of analysis of a single spectrum was calculated using the following equation:

$$IA = \int_{w_{l,oa}}^{w_{u,oa}} VA_{norm}(w) \, dw \qquad (6.1)$$

where IA is the normalised integrated area; $w_{u,oa}$ is the upper wavenumber limit for the structural group; $w_{1,oa}$ is the lower wavenumber limit for the structural group and $VA_{norm}(w)$ is the normalised absorbance at wavenumber w. The carbonyl band was defined from the wavelengths of 1666 to 1746 cm⁻¹ [94]. The binders were characterized through ATR-FTIR analysis using a Bruker Vertex 70 Hyperion 1000 spectrometer with a diamond ATR module. A resolution of 4 cm⁻¹ was used to record the spectra from 4000 to 400 cm⁻¹ in a reflective mode

6.3.3 GPC Tests

The GPC tests for the various binders were conducted as per the method described in Chapter 3 to characterise is complete molecular weight distribution. Tetrahydrofuran (THF) was used

to dissolve the binders to the required concentration and subsequently filtered through a 0.2 μ m filter for testing with a Shimadzu Prominence GPC system using two styragel columns. The large molecular size (LMS) percentages of the samples were calculated from each GPC chromatogram as follows [98]:

$$LMS\% = \frac{\text{Area of first}\frac{5}{13} \text{ of chromatogram}}{\text{Toal Area below the chromatogram}} * 100$$
(6.2)

6.3.4 Dynamic Shear Rheometer (DSR)

DSR was used to evaluate the rheological behaviour of the various binders. For binders containing recycled materials, the low and intermediate temperature characteristics are of particular concern, as a result of the increased likelihood of cracking in these very stiff materials. The Bending Beam Rheometer (BBR) is most commonly used for low-temperature characterization binders. However, for materials where only small quantities are available for testing, such as is usually the case for extracted RAP binders, the DSR in combination with the 4 mm plate geometry has been shown to be a suitable surrogate for BBR testing [130]. In this study, DSR tests were conducted using a TA Instruments rheometer that was calibrated for temperature and inertia effects as described in previous works [131]. Temperature-frequency sweeps were run at temperatures ranging from -18°C to 40°C and frequencies ranging from 0.1 Hz to 15 Hz. The master curves for each were constructed at a reference temperature of 0°C as per the time-temperature superposition principle. The master curve was created using a sigmoidal function as follows:

$$\log(|G^*|) = \delta + \frac{\alpha}{1 + e^{\beta - \gamma \log(t_r)}}$$
(6.3)

where $|G^*|$ = the complex modulus of the material, δ = the lower asymptote of the material modulus, t_r = reduced time, and α , β , and γ = shape factors for the function. Reduced time is calculated based on multiplying the test time (in the frequency domain) with a shift factor that

converts it to an equivalent time at the reference temperature, in this case, 0°C. It is indeed recognised that a lower asymptote in a sigmoidal shape is not applicable for binders without particulate matter. However, the choice of this model was based on previous studies that shed a better fit in the region of interest.

6.4 Results and Discussion

6.4.1 Solubility based Molecular Interactions

The parameters related to the various molecular interactions in the Hansen model were calculated as per the titration procedure. The results corresponding to the relative molecular interactions i.e. dispersive forces (D), polar interactions (N) and hydrogen bonding (H) interactions are presented in Figure 6.1 and Figure 6.2 respectively. It was seen that both RAP binders displayed noticeably different extent of interactions as compared to the virgin binder. Similar findings were reported in a previous Chapter and ascribed the differences in interactions as a result of the increased molecular associations and agglomeration [57,129]. The increase in interactions such as polar interactions (N) is also associated with the higher content of the more polar fractions in aged bitumen, such as asphaltenes [129]. As a result, the increased associations among molecules are known to lower its dispersibility thereby hardening bitumen. This stiffening of binders has a significant effect in terms of rheology and can potentially lead to the detrimental performance of aged binders in terms of fatigue and thermal cracking performance [1,36].

When comparing the artificially blended (AB) binders, the results were varying. In general, the AB binders showed different D, H, N values as compared to the RAP binders and virgin binder. This is expected as AB binders are a combination of its constituents and will naturally have different chemical compositions in comparison. The AB binders are anticipated to exhibit the relative extent of molecular interactions in proportion to the various new associations formed

after mixing, subsequently reaching a state of molecular homogeneity. As per the molecular model of bitumen described by Gray, intermolecular interactions in binders comprise molecular recognition and host-guest interface in 3D porous networks [132]. In virgin-aged binder blends, new associations would likely be formed among molecules during mixing, depending on the individual compositions of the binders leading to changes in the extent of intermolecular forces. Further, it was interesting to note that in both sets of binders, the binders incorporated with 15% RAP showed results that were similar to the virgin binders. It can be inferred that the inclusion of the aged binder at lower proportions has a limited influence on the internal stability of the virgin binder. In terms of the solubility based model of bitumen, it signifies that the virgin binder has enough solvable components to fully solvate the added aged binder and retains similar solubility tendencies. However, when 30% and 50% RAP are added there is more variation in results. In both cases, AB-30 and AB-50 binders displayed lower values for D as compared to the virgin binder which could imply that the stability of those binders are lower than the virgin binder. It must be noted that these changes in internal stability cannot specify that any binder is superior to another but can only indicate a relative difference, which will evidently have chemical and rheological consequences Previous studies have indicated that exhibiting very low values for D, such as the aged binders in this study may exhibit low peptizability and could be thermodynamically unstable [64]. In addition, the binder AB-50-2 also showed an increase in the N parameter as compared to AB-50-1. This can be attributed to the specific composition of the RAP binders, and its effect will become more significant as the RAP content increases. Overall, the results suggest that at small concentrations of RAP, there is not a significant change in the solubility related molecular interactions of the binders. This may have noteworthy implications in terms of practice and are discussed further.



Figure 6.1 Strength of intermolecular interactions in Series 1



Figure 6.2 Strength of intermolecular interactions in Series 2

6.4.2 Extent of Oxidative Groups

The areas corresponding to the carbonyl bonds were calculated as per the procedure described and the results are shown in Figure 6.3. Similar trends for oxidation were observed for both sets of binders. As expected, the areas under the carbonyl bonds exhibited by the RAP binders were significantly higher than the unaged virgin binders, as a result of the natural oxidation over time. The pathways of this oxidation have been explained by many studies in the past, indicating the transformations of aliphatic sulphides to sulphoxides and benzyclic carbon to carbonyl [133]. During oxidation, the molecular structures of binders are altered through the dissociation, isomerization, and fragmentation of the asphaltene molecules, the dissociation of aromatics molecules, and the association, cyclization, and dissociation of saturate molecules. This is reflected in the possible reaction types occurring during oxidation, introduced in the study by Siddiqui (1991), and illustrated in Figure 6.4 [26]. These oxidized components and other oxygen-containing by-products formed during ageing are polar species that interact with other polar species, increasing the overall polarity of the binders.

The incorporation of the RAP binders was seen to increase the overall oxidative products in the AB binders, and this trend increased continuously with the percentage of RAP added. Although these FTIR results cannot be considered to be rigorously quantitative, it can be used to semi-quantitatively confirm that the extent of oxidation is higher in the AB binders. Additionally, no chemical reaction is assumed to occur between RAP binders and virgin binders, hence the relationship is expected to be fairly linear [133]. More polar, oxygencontaining functionalities are expected to exist in the RAP binders which propagate the agglomeration of certain fractions such as asphaltenes [86,125]. When a small proportion of RAP binder is mixed with the fresh binder, the total oxidative products in the combined binder are slightly increased. However, from the solubility results, it can be seen that the internal stability of the binders stayed relatively similar. Alternatively, at higher concentrations of RAP binder, the internal stability of the combined binder changed resulting in the variation of the solubility properties. In a well dispersed and stable bitumen, the solvency of the more polar species is matched by the dispersing power of the solvent species. A change in this power causes a change in the overall solubility and internal stability of the bitumen. However, this would be associated with the individual chemical composition of the binders and cannot be generalized as such. Previous studies have also shown oxidized asphaltene fractions would have an affinity towards non-oxidized fractions and interact through various π - π interactions

[135]. The extent of this interaction will naturally depend on the concentration of the aged fractions in the mixture and will hence vary with concentration.



Figure 6.3 Areas corresponding to the Carbonyl Bonds



Figure 6.4 Reaction types of bitumen during ageing [134]

6.4.3 GPC Parameters

The LMS fractions of the binders were calculated as per the procedure described in Section 3, with the results represented in Figure 6.5. Prior studies have shown that fractions containing higher extents of the oxidation products are mainly represented in the LMS fraction of the GPC

chromatogram [36]. This is mainly attributed to the association of smaller molecules with higher polarities during aging, which then contribute to the LMS fraction [136,137]. It is important to understand the premise of molecular size distribution in bitumen. Bitumen consists of a continuum of fairly large hydrocarbons with different sizes and polarity, with the lowest size of hydrocarbons defined by the respective processing requirements of crude [50]. A good correlation could be noticed with the FTIR results as in the binders exhibiting the highest levels of oxidation also showed higher percentages of LMS. The levels of LMS were seen to increase in the AB binders with the increase in RAP percentage, thereby validating that the levels of oxidative species are also higher in those binders.

The mechanism of introducing more oxidized species present in RAP binders into unaged binders can be explained in terms of the polydispersity of molecules. The overall increase in polarity in the aged binders promotes the tendency of its polar fractions, such as asphaltene molecules to agglomerate and form nanoaggregates as represented in Figure 6.6 [138,139]. When these species are introduced in unoxidized binders during mixing, some changes in the polydispersity of molecules can be expected. These oxidized asphaltene molecules will have a strong affinity towards non-oxidized asphaltenes via hydrogen bonding, acid-base interactions, and π - π stacking. The addition of such oxidized fractions would facilitate the further agglomeration of molecules, the formation of larger aggregates and reduction of its overall polydispersity [135]. This is shown in the diagram representing the interaction mechanism as shown in Figure 6.7. However, the extent of this agglomeration will depend on the concentration of oxidized species in the blend and overall peptizability of the maltene phase. Hence, when the RAP binder is added at small concentrations, there is not much change in the stability and extent of interactions in the combined blend. Moreover, not all molecular fractions in the aged binders are oxidized and such binders will also possess unreacted elements.



Figure 6.5 LMS (%) obtained from GPC testing



Figure 6.6 Formation of clusters in asphaltene molecules



Figure 6.7 Mechanism of change in aggregation during mixing

6.4.4 Rheological Results

The rheological parameters of the two sets of binders were measured as described in section 6.3.4, and the respective master curves are shown in Figure 6.8 and Figure 6.9 respectively. At the temperatures (from 10°C to 40°C) tested in this study, a distinct difference was seen between the stiffness of the binders with different contents of RAP. The virgin binder alone was the softest binder whereas both RAP binders exhibited the stiffest behaviour. The stiffness of the AB binders increased in proportion to the concentration of RAP binder in it, for both series. The difference in material behavior becomes more evident at high temperatures and low frequencies but is observable throughout a large portion of the master curve. At high temperatures, on average, the calculated G* for both RAP binders were seen to be around 10 times greater than the virgin binder, while for AB-15 this difference was around 0.5 and it increased to approximately 3 for AB-50. In general, the rheological results are consistent with the above parameters in that they exhibit an increase in the bitumen stiffness as higher ratios of RAP binder are used. One possible mechanism for the rise in stiffness is through the increase in particle attraction or π - π interactions [133]. This type of increase in modulus is heightened by the particle sizes and reduced by the dispersing action of the asphaltenes. All molecules are

attracted to each other through fundamental forces of attractions and associate with each other. Importantly, the increased polar molecules in the aged binders tend to associate with each other to form organized structures through the solvent phase of the non-polar material. Such attraction between molecules can lead to the formation of three-dimensional structures leading to the hardening of bitumen. The strength of this organization of the structures would naturally depend on the extent dispersive power of the continuous phase. An increase in the quantities of aged binders leads to higher levels of organizations, thereby stiffening the material and increasing its ability to resist external forces. Such an increase in modulus can be predicted by Einstein's theory of colloids and further modifications based on the Pal-Rhodes model [140,141].



Figure 6.8 Master curve for binders in Series 1



Figure 6.9 Master curve for binders in Series 2

6.5 Findings and Conclusion

In this chapter, the differences in solubility based molecular interactions and internal stabilities were examined for unaged binders modified with different concentrations of RAP binders from two sources, using an extension of the Hansen model of solubility. The following findings were drawn from laboratory tests:

- Binders modified with low percentages of RAP binders showed similar extents of internal stabilities and relative molecular interactions as compared to the unaged binder.
- Increased concentrations of RAP binders altered the extent of relative molecular interactions in the combined blends and are consequently expected to have implications in terms of binder compatibilities and blend homogeneity.
- The oxidative elements in the combined binders were seen to increase with the increase in percentages of RAP binders. It is postulated that these fractions will affect the polydispersity of the molecules through increased molecular agglomerations and

associations. In terms of rheology, an increase in stiffness was observed on the addition of higher concentrations of aged binder.

• Low contents of RAP may be incorporated into mixtures without any change in mix design. However, using higher RAP content in mixes should ideally involve some consideration of the chemistries of the intermixing binders, in order to design a stable and appropriate blend.

6.6 Implications for Mixture Design

Aged binders and unaged binders are fundamentally dissimilar in terms of chemistry and understanding the full extent of the features involved in their blending is complicated. In view of this, there are many intricacies for practitioners to consider in order to achieve a reasonable blend with target properties. Most agency specifications currently indicate that at RAP percentages of 15% or less, no change in virgin binder grade is required. It is important to bear in mind that these specifications were mainly designed based on rheology and to achieve desired mechanical properties, without the consideration of binder chemistry and long-term integrity of the blends. As seen from the results of this study, binders blended at those ratios exhibit similar trends of molecular interactions as the unaged binder that serves as its main constituent. Therefore, it is possible that low contents of RAP may be incorporated into mixtures without much deliberation or change in mixture design, irrespective of RAP source. This could be important in terms of practice as screening, sorting and stockpiling of RAP sources is a big challenge, especially in countries where land space is premium. At higher RAP percentages, mixture design becomes more complicated. Introducing more fractions of aged components would noticeably affect the intermolecular forces in the blended binders and possibly its long-term stability. Dependent on the strength of these interactions, its introduction may exhibit a governing influence on the overall molecular interactions leading to variability in properties of the blend [129]. In a blend with higher percentages of RAP, the overall solvency power of the solvent phase must be sufficient to fully disperse the asphaltenes and achieve relative homogeneity. Softening the blended binders by lowering the grade of the virgin binders may allow reaching the target rheological properties, however, this does not necessarily reflect the internal stability and extent of molecular interactions in the blend. Some consideration of the chemistries is essential as even though binders may exhibit similar rheological characteristics, they may be different in chemical compositions [127]. These differences could lead to performance issues for the binder that is not accounted for by the rheological parameters. Currently, there are no standards or frameworks for evaluating the compatibility between binders and further research is required in this area.

CHAPTER 7

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Asphalt binders in bituminous mixtures with RAP comprise fractions of both aged and unaged binders, intended to exist as a single entity. A significant apprehension in the design of such mixtures is the undetermined extent of aged (RAP) binder that is mobilised during mixing, and the ensuing blending of aged and unaged (virgin) binders. The level of this blending is theorized to control the extent of homogeneity of the binder in the mix, and consequently has an important role in the overall mixture performance. This dissertation research aims to systematically investigate and improve the fundamental understanding of the many facets involved in the mobilisation of RAP binder and the subsequent interaction of RAP binders and unaged binders. The first part of the dissertation was focused on developing a new method to evaluate RAP binder mobilisation using ATR-FTIR spectroscopy as a major assessment tool. After this, the effect of important variables in mixture design such as mixing temperature, the addition of WMA additives and RAP type were assessed. Chemical tests such as SARA fractionation and microstructure analysis using optical microscopic techniques were used to concurrently identify the possible mechanisms involved in the process. In the second part, the compatibilities between aged and unaged binders were evaluated using an extended version of the HSP model of solubility which described the variations in intermolecular forces between unaged and aged binders in terms of dispersive interactions, polar interactions, and hydrogen bonding interactions. Lastly, the chemistry of combined blends of aged and unaged binders was studied in terms of internal stability and polydispersity of molecules.

7.1 Findings

Based on the outcomes of the various studies conducted, the following major findings were obtained:

- ATR-FTIR can be used to indicate the extent of mobilisation of RAP binders in bituminous mixtures with RAP.
- RAP binder mobilisation is greatly dependent on temperature. The mixtures prepared at 165°C showed on average close to 30% higher binder mobilisation than mixtures prepared at 135°C.
- In general, WMA additives can increase the mobilisation of RAP binder when compared with mixtures prepared at the same temperature without WMA additives.
 From the additives tested, specific foaming and chemical additives showed the highest capability to mobilise RAP binder in mixtures, which were comparable to the levels of HMA mixes.
- RAP binder mobilisation considerably varies, depending on the specific RAP used in the mix. However, a considerable amount of RAP binder remains immobilised regardless of the RAP source, under normal mixing conditions.
- The RAP binders exhibiting a lower viscosity at the mixing temperature showed higher tendencies to be mobilised.
- Chemical and microstructural features of a RAP binder can indicate its potential to be mobilised in a mixture.
- Unaged binders and RAP binders may noticeably differ in terms of the extents of relative molecular interactions as per solubility-based parameters. Hence, they are projected to have varying extents of mutual compatibility.
- Special mixing requirements such as increased temperature and mixing conditions could improve the relative compatibility between binders, in relation to RAP binder mobilisation and blending.

- When considering combined blends of RAP binders and unaged binders, binders blended with low percentages (of up to 15%) of RAP binders showed similar extents of internal stabilities and relative molecular interactions as compared to unaged binders.
- Increased concentrations of RAP binders altered the extent of relative molecular interactions in the combined blends, and are subsequently expected to have implications in terms of blend homogeneity.
- The oxidative elements in the combined binders were seen to increase with the increase in percentages of RAP binders. It is postulated that these fractions will affect the polydispersity of the molecules through increased molecular agglomerations and associations.

7.2 Conclusions

From the different studies conducted in this dissertation research, the following general conclusions can be drawn:

- There is substantial variability in RAP binder mobilisation as it is affected by various mixing conditions such as temperature, use of WMA additives and use of different RAP materials. The viscosity of RAP binders is expected to be a useful parameter to assess and standardize this variability.
- Through an extension of the HSP model of solubility, the relative molecular interactions of aged and unaged binders in terms of dispersive interactions, hydrogen bonding interactions and polar interactions can be approximated. It was seen that certain unaged binders and RAP binders can vary in terms of the relative extents of molecular interactions. This, in turn, is believed to have implications for the mobilisation of RAP binder, and subsequent blending of RAP binders and unaged binders.
- Low concentrations of RAP binders are anticipated to have a limited effect on the internal stability of combined blends of RAP binder and virgin binder. However, high

concentrations of RAP binders could alter this stability and requires a closer consideration of the intermixing binders.

7.3 Future Work

The phenomenon of RAP binder mobilisation and the subsequent blending of RAP binder and virgin binder in bituminous mixtures is a complex process that involves numerous variables. On the basis of the findings of this dissertation, future study is recommended in the following areas:

- This work only evaluated some important criteria that may affect RAP binder mobilisation and blending. Other parameters such as the effect of aggregate shapes, use of rejuvenators, clustering of RAP fines should be further investigated.
- Specifications could be developed for RAP based on specific rheological parameters such as viscosity. This may help generally improve the blending of binders and improve mixture performance. However, to achieve this, research with a wide database of materials would be required.
- RAP binder mobilisation and blending research are suggested to be applied to the asphalt mastic and fine aggregate matrix (FAM) level, as the interaction the binders could be influenced by the presence of filler.
- Although the solubility-based tools may be useful for research purposes, its practical use may be limited for practitioners and engineers. It is suggested to develop more directly applicable tools to study the molecular interactions and compatibility between a wide array of binders with different compositions. Molecular dynamics (MD) simulation may be useful in that aspect to generate a broad spectrum of data.
LIST OF STANDARDS MENTIONED

AASHTO T164, Standard Method of Test for Quantitative Extraction of Asphalt Binder from Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA), American Association of State and Highway Transportation Officials (2014).

AASHTO T308, Standard Method of Test for Determining the Asphalt Binder Content of Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) by the Ignition Method, American Association of State and Highway Transportation Officials (2018).

AASHTO T240–09, Standard Method of Test for Effect of Heat and Air on a Moving Film of Asphalt, American Association of State and Highway Transportation Officials (2017).

ASTM D 6521, Standard Practice for Accelerated Aging of Asphalt Binder Using a Pressurized Aging Vessel (PAV), ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA (2019).

ASTM D2171 Standard Test Method for Viscosity of Asphalts by Vacuum Capillary Viscometer, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA (2018).

ASTM D2007, Standard Test Method for Characteristic Groups in Rubber Extender and Processing Oils and Other Petroleum-Derived Oils by the Clay-Gel Absorption Chromatographic Method, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA (2016).

ASTM D5 Standard Test Method for Penetration of Bituminous Materials, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA (2019).

ASTM D36 Standard Test Method for Softening Point of Bitumen (Ring-and-Ball Apparatus), ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA (2014).

ASTM D4402 Standard Test Method for Viscosity Determination of Asphalt at Elevated Temperatures Using a Rotational Viscometer, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA (2015).

124

REFERENCE LIST

[1] Al-Qadi, I., Elseifi, M. and Carpenter, S., Reclaimed asphalt pavement: a literature review, Illinois Center for Transportation, Urbana, IL, USA (2007).

[2] Hansen, K. and Newcomb, D., RAP Usage Survey, National Asphalt Pavement Association, Lanham, MD (2007).

[3] McDaniel, R.S., Kowalski, K.J. and Shah, A., Evaluation of reclaimed asphalt pavements for surface mixtures, JTRP technical report, Joint Transportation Research Program, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana, USA (2012).

[4] Mollenhauer, K. and Gaspar, L., Synthesis of European knowledge on asphalt recycling: options, best practices and research needs, Europhalt & Eurobitume congress, 5th, Istanbul, Turkey, European Bitumen Association, Brussels, Belgium (2012).

[5] Austroads, Maximising the Use of Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement in Asphalt Mix Design:Field Validation (2016).

[6] Bowers, B.F., Huang, B., Shu, X. and Miller, B.C., Investigation of reclaimed asphalt pavement blending efficiency through GPC and FTIR, Constr. Build. Mater. 50 (2014) 517–523.

[7] Zhao, S., Bowers, B., Huang, B. and Shu, X., Characterizing rheological properties of binder and blending efficiency of asphalt paving mixtures containing RAS through GPC, J. Mater. Civ. Eng. 26 (5) (2013) 941–946.

[8] Bonaquist, R., Can I run more RAP?, HMAT: Hot Mix Asphalt Technol 12 (5) (2007).

[9] Mogawer W., Bennert T., Daniel J.S., Bonaquist R., Austerman A. and Boosherian A., Performance characteristics of plant-produced high RAP mixtures. Road Mater Pavement Des;13(S1) (2012) 183–208. [10] Kennedy, T. W., Tam W. O., and Solaimanian, M., "Optimizing Use of Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement with the SuperPave System," Journal of the Association of Asphalt Paving Technologists, 67 (1998) 311-333.

[11] Kandhal, P. S., and Mallick, R. B., Pavement Recycling Guidelines for State and Local Governments – Participant's Reference Book, Report No. FHWA-SA-98-042, National Center for Asphalt Technology, Auburn, AL (1997).

[12] HKSAR. General Specifications for civil engineering works, vol 2: bituminous carriageway, Government of the Hong Kong Special administrative region (2002).

[13] North Carolina Department of Transportation, NCDOT, FHWA/AASHTO RAP ETG survey (2007).

[14] Materials Engineering and Research Office MTO, RAP usage survey, November (2008).

[15] North Carolina Department of Transportation, NCDOT, FHWA/AASHTO RAP ETG survey (2009).

[16] Ohio Department of Transportation, ODOT, Summary of States extending RAP usage,September (2008).

[17] AIRIA. Car Ownership Statistics as of March 31, 2015. (Japanese Web Page: 自動車保 有合数). Auto- mobile Inspection & Registration Information Association, Chiyoda City, Tokyo, Japan. Accessed June 11, 2015, from http://www.airia.or.jp/publish/statistics/ number.html (2015).

[18] West, R., and Copeland, A., High RAP Asphalt Pavements: Japan Practice - Lessons Learned. National Asphalt Pavement Association, Lanham, MD (2015). [19] Kemp, G. R. and Predoehl, N.H., "A Comparison of Field and Laboratory Environments on Asphalt Durability," Proceedings of the Association of Asphalt Paving Technologists, 50 (1981) 492-537.

[20] Smiljanic, M., Stefanovic, J., Neumann, H.-J., Rahimaian, I. and Jovanovic, J., "Aging of Asphalt on Paved Roads — Characterization of Asphalt Extracted from the Wearing Courses of the Belgrade-Nis Highway," Journal of Erdol and Kohl, Vol 46, No 6. Hamburg, Germany (1993).

[21] Karlsson, R. and Isaacsson, U., "Material-Related Aspects of Asphalt Recycling — State of the Art," Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering, American Society of Civil Engineers, 18, 1 (2006) 81-92.

[22] Sondag, M. S., Chadbourn, B.A. and Drescher, A., Investigation of Recycled Asphalt Pavement (RAP) Mixtures, Report No. MN/RC – 2002-15, Minnesota Department of transportation, St. Paul, MN (2002).

[23] Hajj, E.Y., Sebaaly, P.E. and Shrestha, R., Laboratory Evaluation of Mixes Containing Recycled Asphalt Pavement (RAP), Road Materials and Pavement Design, 10:3 (2009) 495-517, DOI: 10.1080/14680629.2009.9690211.

[24] ASTM D4887/D4887M-11: Standard Practice for Preparation of Viscosity Blends for Hot Recycled Asphalt Materials, West Conshohocken, PA (2016).

[25] Singh, D, Showkat, B. and Sawant, D., A study to compare virgin and target asphalt binder obtained from various RAP blending charts, Construction and Building Materials, 224 (2019) 109-123.

[26] Mangiafico, S., Di Benedetto, H., Sauzeat, C., Olard, F., Dupriet, S., Planque, L. and van Rooijen, Effect of reclaimed asphalt pavement on complex modulus and fatigue resistance of bitumens and asphalt, Eurasphalt & Eurobitume congress, 5th, Istanbul, Turkey, European Bitumen Association, Brussels, Belgium (2012).

[27] McDaniel, R.S. and Shah, A., Use of reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) under superpave specifications, Journal of the Association of Asphalt Paving Technologists, 72 (2003) 227-52.

[28] McDaniel, R.S., Shah, A., Huber, G.A. and Copeland, A., Effects of reclaimed asphalt pavement content and virgin binder grade on properties of plant produced mixtures, Journal of Road Materials and Pavement Design, 13, supplement 1 (2012) 161-82.

[29] Huang, B., Zhang, Z., Kingery, W. and Zuo, G., 'Fatigue crack characteristics of HMA mixtures containing RAP', International RILEM conference on cracking in pavements, 5th, Limoges, France, RILEM, Bagneaux, France (2004).

[30] McDaniel, R.S., Soleymani, H.A.R., Anderson, R.M., Turner, P. and Peterson, R., Recommended use of reclaimed asphalt pavement in the Superpave mixture design method, NCHRP final report no. 9-12, National Cooperative Highway Research Program, Transportation Research Board, Washington, DC, USA (2000).

[31] Willis, J.R., Turner, P., Padula, F. de G, Tran, N. and Julian, G., Effects of changing virgin binder grade and content on high reclaimed asphalt pavement mixture properties, Transportation Research Record, 2371 (2013) 66-73.

[32] Watson, D.E., Vargas-Nordcbeck, A., Moore, J., Jared, D. and Wu, P., Evaluation of the use of reclaimed asphalt pavement in stone matrix asphalt mixtures, Transportation Research Record, 2051 (2008) 64-70.

[33] Distin, T. and Crabb, R., Turning RAP into a value added pavement asset, International flexible pavements conference, 14th, 2011, Sydney, NSW, Australian Asphalt Paving Association, Kew, Vic, (2011).

128

[34] Maupin, G.W., Diefenderfer, S.D. and Gillespie, J.S., Evaluation of Using Higher Percentages of Recycled Asphalt Pavement in Asphalt Mixes in Virginia, p. 29, Virginia Transportation Research Council (2007).

[35] Loria, L, Hajj, E.Y., Sebaaly, P.E., Barton, M., Kass, S. and Liske, T., 'Performance evaluation of asphalt mixtures with high recycled asphalt pavement content', Transportation Research Record, (2208 82011) 72-81.

[36] Sreeram, A., Leng, Z., Zhang, Y. and Padhan, R.K., Evaluation of RAP binder mobilisation and blending efficiency in bituminous mixtures: an approach using ATR-FTIR and artificial aggregate. Construct. Build. Mater., 179 (2018) 245-253.

[37] Sreeram, A. and Leng, Z., Variability of RAP binder mobilisation in hot mix asphalt mixtures, Construct. Build. Mater., 201 (2019) 502-509.

[38] Ding, Y., Huang, B. and Shu X., Characterizing blending efficiency of plant produced asphalt paving mixtures containing high RAP. Construction and Building Materials 126 (2016) 172–178.

[39] Zhao, S., Huang, B., Shu, X., and Woods M.E., Quantitative Characterization of Binder Blending How Much Recycled Binder Is Mobilized During Mixing?, Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board (2015).

[40] Campher, L., HERWONNE ASFALT: Hoe effektief is verouderde bitumen in Bitumen Stabiliserende Materiale? Stellenbosch: Universiteit van Stellenbosch Departement (2012).

[41] Cavalli, M.C., Griffa, M., Bressi, S., Partl, M.N., Tebaldi, G., and Poulikakos, L.D., Multiscale imaging and characterization of the effect of mixing temperature on asphalt concrete containing recycled components. Journal of Microscopy, 264(1), (2016) 22–33. doi:10.1111/jmi.12412. [42] He, Y., Alavi, Z., Harvey, J., and Jones, D., Evaluating diffusion and aging mechanisms in blending of new and age-hardened binders during mixing and paving. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, 2574 (2016) 64–73. doi:10.3141/2574-0.

[43] Rad, F., Sefidmazgi, N., and Bahia, H., Application of diffusion mechanism. Degree of blending between fresh and recycled asphalt pavement binder in dynamic shear rheometer.
Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, 2444(1) (2014) 71–77. doi:10.3141/2444-0.

[44] Gaitan, L., Mehta, Y., Nolan, A., Dubois, E., Coffey, S., McCarthy, L., and Welker, A., Evaluation of the degree of blending and polymer degradation of reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) for warm mix asphalt. The Journal of Solid Waste Technology and Management, 39(2) (2013) 101–113. doi:10.5276/JSWTM.2013.101.

[45] Gottumukkala, B., Kusam, S.R., Tandon, V., and Muppireddy, A.R., Estimation of Blending of Rap Binder in a Recycled Asphalt Pavement Mix. Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering, 30(8) (2018) 1–8. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)MT.1943-5533.0002403.

[46] Stimilli, A., Virgili, A., and Canestrari, F., New method to estimate the "re-activated" binder amount in recycled hot-mix asphalt. Road Materials and Pavement Design, 16 (S1) (2015) 442–459. doi:10.1080/14680629.2015.1029678.

[47] Cavalli, M.C., Partl, M.N., and Poulikakos, L.D., Measuring the binder film residues on black rock in mixtures with high amounts of reclaimed asphalt. Journal of Cleaner Production, 149 (2017) 665–672.

[48] Booshehrian, A., Mogawer, W.S., and Bonaquist, R., How to construct an asphalt binder master curve and assess the degree of blending between RAP and virgin binders. Journal of

Materials in Civil Engineering, 25(12) (2013) 1813–1821. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)MT.1943-5533.0000726.

[49] Read, D. and Whiteoak, J., The Shell Bitumen Handbook (2003).

[50] Redelius, P. and Soenen, H., Relation between bitumen chemistry and performance. Fuel.140 (2015) 34–43.

[51] Branthaver, J.F., Petersen, J., Robertson, R., Duvall, J., Kim, S., Harnsberger, P., Mill, T., Ensley, E., Barbour, F. and Scharbron, J., Binder characterization and evaluation. Volume 2: Chemistry, Tech. Rep. (1993).

[52] Jones, D.R., SHRP Materials Reference Library, Asphalt Cements: A Concise Data Compilation, Technical Report SHRP-A-645 (1993).

[53] Corbett, L.W., Composition of asphalt based on generic fractionation, using solvent deasphaltening, elution-adsorption chromatography, and densimetric characterization, Analytical Chemistry 41, 576 (1969).

[54] Lesueur, D., The colloidal structure of bitumen: Consequences on the rheology and on the mechanisms of bitumen modification, Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 145, 42-82 (2009).

[55] Saal, R. and Labout, J., Rheological properties of asphaltic bitumen. The Journal of Physical Chemistry 44 (2) (1940) 149-165.

[56] Saal, R., Physical properties of asphaltic bitumen: Rheological properties (1950).

[57] Robertson, R.E., Chemical properties of asphalts and their relationship to pavement performance. In: Strategic highway research program. Washington, DC: National Research Council (1991).

[58] Planche, J.P., Insights into binder chemistry microstructure properties relationship.Proceedings of International Society of Asphalt Pavements (ISAP), Raleigh North Carolina (2014).

[59] Hunter, C.A. and Sanders, J.K.M., The nature of π - π interactions, J. Am Chem Soc, 112 (1990) 5525-5534.

[60] Hildebrand, J.H. and Scott, R.L., Solubility of non-electrolytes, 3. New York: Reinhold Publishing Corp pp 488 (1950).

[61] Barton, A.F.M., CRC handbook of solubility parameters and other cohesion parameters,2. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press (1991).

[62] Hansen, C.M. and Skaarup, K., The three dimensional parameter—key to paint component affinities. III. Independent calculation of the parameter components. J Paint Technol, 39 (1967) 511.

[63] Laux, H., Rahimian, I. and Butz, T., Thermodynamics and mechanism of stabilization and precipitation of petroleum colloids. Fuel Process Technol, 53 (1997) 69–79.

[64] Redelius, P.G., Solubility parameters and bitumen. Fuel, 79 (1) (2000) 27–35.

[65] Heithaus, J.J., Measurement and significance of asphaltene peptization. J Inst Petrol. 48 (1962) 45-53.

[66] Redelius, P., Bitumen solubility model using Hansen solubility parameter. Energy Fuels, 18(4) (2004) 1087–92.

[67] Claudy, P., Letoffe, J., King, G. and Plancke, J., Characterization of asphalts cements by thermomicroscopy and differential scanning calorimetry: correlation to classic physical properties, Fuel science & technology international 10 (1992) 735.

132

[68] Bearsley, S., Forbes, A. and Haverkam, R.G., Direct observation of the asphaltene structure in paving-grade bitumen using confocal laser-scanning microscopy, Journal of microscopy 215 (2004) 149.

[69] Handle, F., Füssl, J., Neudl, S., Grossegger, D., Eberhardsteiner, L., Hofko, B., Hospodka, M., Blab, R. and Grothe, H., The bitumen microstructure: a fluorescent approach, Materials and Structures, 1 (2014).

[70] Storm, D.A., Sheu, E.Y. and DeTar, M.M., Macrostructure of asphaltenes in vacuum residue by small-angle x-ray scattering, Fuel 72 (1993) 977.

[71] Loeber, L., Sutton, O., Morel, J., Valleton, J.M. and Muller, G., New direct observations of asphalts and asphalt binders by scanning electron microscopy and atomic force microscopy, Journal of Microscopy 182 (1996) 32.

[72] Pauli, A.T., Branthaver, J.F., Eggleston, C.M. and Grimes, W., Atomic force microscopy investigation of shrp asphalts. Abstracts of Papers of the American Chemical Society 221, U220 (2001), part 2 434PJ 10.

[73] Jäger, A., Lackner, R., Eisenmenger-Sittner, C. and Blab, R., Identification of microstructural components of bitumen by means of atomic force microscopy (afm), PAMM4, 400 (2004).

[74] Wang, M. and Liu, L., Investigation of microscale aging behavior of asphalt binders using atomic force microscopy, Constr. Build. Mater. 135 (2017) 411–419.

[75] Fischer, H. and Dillingh, E., On the investigation of the bulk microstructure of bitumen– introducing two new techniques, Fuel 118 (2014) 365. [76] Soenen, H., Besamusca, J., Fischer, H.R., Poulikakos, L.D., Planche, J.P., Das, P.K., Kringos, N., Grenfell, J.R., Lu, X. and Chailleux, E., Laboratory investigation of bitumen based on round robin dsc and afm tests, Materials and structures, 47 (2014) 1205.

[77] Lyne, Å. L., Wallqvist, V., Rutland, M. W., Claesson, P. and Birgisson, B., Surface wrinkling: The phenomenon causing bees in bitumen, Journal of Materials Science, 48(20), (2013) 6970–6976.

[78] Traxler, R.N., Relation between asphalt composition and hardening by volatilization and oxidation Proc Assoc Asphalt Paving Techn, 30 (1961) 359-372.

[79] Groupe National Bitume, Susceptibilité au vieillissement des bitumes – ExpérimentationA08, LCPC Research report CR19, Paris (France): LCPC Ed. (1997).

[80] Moschopedis, S.E. and Speight, J.G., Influence of metal salts on bitumen oxidation Fuel, 57 (1978) 235-240.

[81] Siddiqui, M.N. and Ali, M.F., Studies on the ageing behavior of the Arabian asphalts Fuel,78 (1999) 1005-1015.

[82] Corbett, L.W. and Swarbrick, R.E., Composition analysis used to explore asphalt hardening Proc Assoc Asphalt Paving Techn, 29 (1960) 104-112.

[83] Moschopedis, S.E. and Speight, J.G., The effect of air blowing on the properties and constitution of a natural bitumen J Mater Sci, 12 (1977) 990-998.

[84] Summary Report on Aging of Asphalt-Aggregate Systems, SHRP Report A-305C. Bell National Research Council, Washington D. C. (1989).

[85] Wright, J.R., Weathering: theoretical and practical aspects of asphalt durability A.J. Hoiberg (Ed.), Bituminous Materials: Asphalts, Tars and Pitches, Interscience Publishers, New York 2 (1) (1965) 249-306.

[86] Petersen, J.C., Asphalt oxidation — an overview including a new model for oxidation proposing that physicochemical factors dominate the oxidation kinetics. Fuel Sci Technol Int, 11 (1993) 57-87.

[87] Siegmann, M.C., Manufacture of asphaltic bitumen. In: Pfeiffer JP, editor. The Properties of Asphaltic Bitumen. Amsterdam: Elsevier (1950) 121–54.

[88] Altgelt, K.H. and Harle, O.L., The Effect of Asphaltenes on Asphalt Viscosity. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, Product Research and Development, 14 (1975) 240-256.

[89] Asphalt Institute. Mix Design Methods for Asphalt Concrete and Other Hot Mix Types.MS-2, Sixth Edition, Lexington, KY. (1993).

[90] Mohajeri, M., Molenaar, A.A.A. and Van de Ven, M.F.C. (promotor), Hot Mix Asphalt Recycling: Practices and Principles, (2015) doi: 10.4233/uuid:75ea46bc-deab-4259-9a73-0ca420cb94f6.

[91] Karlsson R. and Isacsson U., Application of FTIR-ATR to characterization of bitumen rejuvenator diffusion. J Mater Civil Eng 15(2) (2003) 157–65.

[92] Attenuated Total Reflection (ATR) – a versatile tool for FT-IR spectroscopy, Application Note AN #79, Bruker.

[93] Hofko, B., Porot, L., Falchetto Cannone, A. et al., FTIR spectral analysis of bituminous binders: reproducibility and impact of ageing temperature, Mater Struct, 51 (2018) 45. https://doi.org/10.1617/s11527-018-1170-7.

[94] Hofko, B., Alavi, M.Z., Grothe, H., Jones, D. and Harvey, J., Repeatability and sensitivity of FTIR ATR spectral analysis methods for bituminous binders, Materials and Structures 50 (2017) 187. [95] Zhao, S., Huang, B., Shu, X. and Moore, J., Effects of WMA Technologies on Asphalt Binder Blending, Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering, 28 (2): 04015106 (2016).

[96] Zhao, S., Huang, B., Shu, X., and Woods, M.E., Quantitative evaluation of blending and diffusion in high RAP and RAS mixtures, Materials and Design, 89 (2016) 1161–1170.

[97] Bowers, B.F., Moore, J., Huang, B. and Shu, X., Blending efficiency of Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement: An approach utilizing rheological properties and molecular weight distributions Fuel, 135 (2014) 63–68.

[98] Kim, K.W., Kim, K., Doh, Y.S. and Amirkhanian, S.N., Estimation of RAP's Binder Viscosity Using GPC Without Binder Recovery. Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering, 18
(4) (2006) 61–567.

[99] W.H., Daly, I., Negulescu, S.S., Balamurugan, Implementation of GPC Characterization of Asphalt Binders at Louisiana Materials Laboratory, Department of Chemistry, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA (2013).

[100] Zaumanis, M. and Smirnovs, J., Analysis of Possibilities for Use of Warm Mix Asphalt in Latvia. Proceedings of Civil Engineering. International Scientific Conference (2011) 57-64.

[101] Rubio, M.C., Mart Nez, G., Baena, L. and Moreno, F., Warm Mix Asphalt: An Overview.Journal of Cleaner Production, 24 (2012) 76-84.

[102] Yu, H., Leng, Z., Zhou, Z., Shih, K., Xiao, F. and Gao, Z., Optimization of preparation procedure of liquid warm mix additive modified asphalt rubber. Journal of Cleaner Production.
141 (2017) 336-345.

[103] Button, J.W., Estakhri, C. and Wimsatt, A., A Synthesis of Warm-Mix Asphalt, Texas Transportation Institute, Report No. TX-07/0-5597-1 (2007). [104] Xu, S., Xiao, F., Amirkhanian S. and Singh, D., Moisture characteristics of mixtures with warm mix asphalt technologies – A review, Construction and Building Materials 142 (2017) 148–161.

[105] Ramm, A.S., Sakib, N., Bhasin, A. and M.C., Downer. Optical characterization of temperature- and composition-dependent microstructure in asphalt binders, J. Microscopy, 262 (3) (2015) 216-225.

[106] Shu, X., Huang, B. and Vukosavljevic, D., Laboratory evaluation of fatigue characteristics of recycled asphalt mixture. Constr Build Mater., 22(7) (2008) 1323–30.

[107] Isacsson, U. and Zeng, H., Relationships between bitumen chemistry and low temperature behaviour of asphalt. Construction and Building Materials, 11 (2) (1993) 83–91.

[108] Santagata, E., Baglieri, O., Dalmazzo, D. and Tsantilis, L., Rheological and chemical investigation on the damage and healing properties of bituminous binders. Asphalt Paving Technology-Proceedings. 28 (2009) 567–596.

[109] Fischer, H., Stadler H. and Erina, N., Quantitative temperature-depending mapping of mechanical properties of bitumen at the nanoscale using the AFM operated with PeakForce Tapping TM mode. Journal of Microscopy, 250(3) (2013) 210–217.

[110] Poulikakos, L.D., dos Santos, S., Bueno, M., Kuentzel, S., Hugener, M. and Partl, M.N., Influence of short and long term aging on chemical, microstructural and macro-mechanical properties of recycled asphalt mixtures. Construction and Building Materials, 51 (2014) 414– 423.

[111] Allen, R. G., Little, D. N., Bhasin, A. and Glover, C. J., The effects of chemical composition on asphalt micro-structure and their association to pavement performance. International Journal of Pavement Engineering, 15(1) (2014) 9–22.

137

[112] Menapace, I., Masad, E., Bhasin, A. and Little, D., Microstructural properties of warm mix asphalt before and after laboratory-simulated long-term ageing, Road Materials and Pavement Design, 16 (2015) 2-20.

[113] Ding, Y., Huang, B. and Shu, X., Utilizing fluorescence microscopy for quantifying mobilization rate of aged asphalt binder, J. Mater. Civ. Eng., 29 (12) (2017) 04017243.

[114] Hansen, C.M., Hansen solubility parameters: a user's handbook. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press (2007).

[115] Lu, X.H. and Isacsson, U., Effect of ageing on bitumen chemistry and rheology. Constr Build Mater., 16(1) (2002) 15–22.

[116] Sabaraya, I.V., Filonzi, A., Hajj, R., Das, D., Saleh, N.B. and Bhasin, A., Ability of Nanomaterials to Effectively Disperse in Asphalt Binders for Use as a Modifier. Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering, 30(8) (2018) 04018166.

[117] Pauli, A.T., Asphalt compatibility testing using the automated Heithaus titration test. American Chemical Society. Pre-print 212th ACS National Meeting. Orlando FL (1996) p1276.4

[118] Karlsson, R. and Isacsson, U., Bitumen structural stability characterization using turbidimetric titration. Energy Fuel, 17 (2003) 1407–1415.

[119] Sakib, N. and Bhasin, A., Measuring polarity-based distributions (SARA) of bitumen using simplified chromatographic techniques. International Journal of Pavement Engineering, (2018). DOI: 10.1080/10298436.2018.1428972.

[120] Wu, S., Pang, L., Liu, G. and Zhu, J., Laboratory study on ultraviolet radiation aging of bitumen. J Mater Civ Eng. 22(8) (2010) 767–72.

[121] Jones, D.R. and Kennedy, T.W., The Asphalt Model: Results of the SHRP Asphalt

Research Program. In Proceedings of the Conference, Strategic Highway Research Program and Traffic Safety on Two Continents, Part Four, Göthenborg, Sweden, Sept. 18–20, 1991; VTI Rapport 372A; Swedish National Road and Traffic Research Institute: Stockholm, Sweden (1991) (ISSN: 0347-6030.).

[122] Leng, Z., Sreeram, A., Padhan, R.K., and Tan, Z., Value-added application of waste PET based additives in bituminous mixtures containing high percentage of reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP). J. Clean. Prod., 196 (2018) 615-625.

[123] Ding, Y.J., Huang, B., Shu, X., Zhang, Y. and Woods, E.M., Use of molecular dynamics to investigate diffusion between virgin and aged asphalt binders. Fuel, 174 (2016) 267–273.

[124] Lin, J.R. and Yen, T.F., The study of molecular attractions in the asphalt system by solubility parameter, in: M.K. Sharma, T.F. Yen (Eds.), Asphaltene Particles in Fossil Fuel Exploration, Recovery, Refining, and Production Processes, Plenum Press, New York (1994) 171–184.

[125] Le Guern, M., Chailleux, E., Farcas, F., Dreessen, S. and Mabille, I., Physico-chemical analysis of five hard bitumens: identification of chemical species and molecular organization before and after artificial aging. Fuel, 89 (11) (2010) 3330–9.

[126] Pahlavan, F., Mousavi, M., Hung, A.M. and Fini, E.H., Characterization of oxidized asphaltenes and the restorative effect of a bio-modifier. Fuel, 212 (2018) 593–604.

[127] Petersen, J.C., Chemical composition of asphalt as related to asphalt durability: state of the art, Transp. Res. Rec. 999 Transportation research Board Washington, D.C. (1984) 13-30.

[128] Ensley, E.K., Thermodynamics of asphalt intermolecular interactions and asphalt– aggregate interactions, in: G.V. Chilingarian, T.F. Yen (Eds.), Asphaltenes and Asphalts, first ed., Elsevier, Los Angeles (1994) 401–426. [129] Sreeram, A., Leng, Z., Hajj, R., Bhasin, A., Characterization of compatibility between aged and unaged binders in bituminous mixtures through an extended HSP model of solubility, Fuel, DOI:10.1016/j.fuel.2019.05.161.

[130] Sui, C., Farrar, M., Harnsberger, M., Tuminello, W. and Turner, T., New low-temperature performance-grading method. Journal of the Transportation Research Board, 2207 (2011) 43–48.

[131] Hajj, R., Hure, R. and Bhasin, A., A Evaluation of Stiffness, Strength, and Ductility of Asphalt Binders at an Intermediate Temperature. Transportation Research Record, 2632(1) (2017) 44–51.

[132] Gray, M.R., Tykwinski, R.R., Stryker, J.M. and Tan, X., Supramolecular assembly model for aggregation of petroleum asphaltenes. Energy & Fuels, 25 (2011) 3125–3134.

[133] Huang, S.C., Pauli, A.T., Grimes, R.W. and Turner, F., Ageing characteristics of RAP binder blends – what types of RAP binders are suitable for multiple recycling? Road Materials and Pavement Design, 15(S1) (2014) 113-145.

[134] Siddiqui, M.N. and Ali, M.F., Investigation of chemical transformations by NMR and GPC during the laboratory aging of Arabian asphalt. Fuel, 78 (1999) 1407–1416.

[135] Choi, S., Choi, S. Q., Kim, J.D. and Nho, N., Partially Oxidized Asphaltene as a Bitumen Viscosity Reducer. Energy Fuels, 31 (2017) 9240–9246.

[136] Hattingh, M.M., The fractionation of asphalt. Proc. Assoc. Asphalt Paving Technol,53(1984) 197-215.

[137] Dukatz Jr., E.L., Anderson, D.A. and Rosenberger, J.L., Relationship between asphalt flow properties and asphalt composition. Proc. Assoc. Asphalt Paving Technol. 53 (1984) 160-185.

[138] Zadshir, M., Hosseinnezhad, S. and Fini, E.H., Deagglomeration of oxidized asphaltenes as a measure of true rejuvenation for severely aged asphalt binder. Construction and Building Materials. 209 (2019) 416-424.

[139] Mullins, O.C., The modified Yen model. Energy Fuels, 24 (4) 2179–2207.

[140] Einstein, A., Eine Neve Bestimmung der Molekuldimensionen. Annalen der Physik. 19(1906) 289–307.

[141] Pal, R., and Rhodes, E., Viscosity/concentration relationships for emulsions. Journal of Rheology. 33(7) (1989) 1021–1045.

APPENDICES

A.1 General Procedure and Notes on the ATR- FTIR Method

A Bruker Vertex 70 Hyperion 1000 spectrometer that holds a diamond ATR module was used to acquire the spectra of the various binder samples. The module was cleaned with trichloroethylene (TCE) solvent and lint-free tissues before and after spectra acquisition. As traces of solvent may be detected by the FTIR, it is important to make sure all solvent has evaporated from the sampling interface. The interface can be further cleaned with acetone after cleaning by TCE. Consequently, the reproducibility of the background spectra can be checked to confirm the identical environment for each test.

In terms of testing, a small amount of binder was taken and placed onto the FTIR optics. To confirm that the test specimen remains in good contact with the optics, a constant pressure may be applied using the ergonomic clamp mechanism of the device. The corresponding spectra of each binder can be then recorded in reflective mode from the wavelength of 4000 to 400 cm⁻¹ at a resolution of 4cm⁻¹, using 24 scans for every measurement. Following the tests, the specimen was removed and cleaned as stated above. Generally speaking, careful testing with an experienced operator can produce reproducible spectra that require no baseline correction.

The spectral data were then normalised using the asymmetric stretching vibration of the aliphatic structures exhibited at 2923 cm⁻¹. For normalization, the value of absorbance is set to 1 and the full spectrum is augmented by a ratio factor. The normalisation is based on the following equation.

A _{norm} (v) = A(v).
$$\frac{1}{A(2923cm^{-1})}$$

A $_{norm}(v)$ is the normalized absorbance spectrum; A (v) is the original absorbance spectrum; A (2923 cm⁻¹) is the original absorbance value at the reference band.



An example of the original spectra and normalised spectra is shown in Figure A1.1.

Figure A.1.1 Original spectra and normalised spectra

The analysis approach of the carbonyl band (C=O) exhibited in the various FTIR spectra utilised the integration of areas, normalised spectra (as stated) and an absolute baseline. The evaluation was conducted using OriginPro statistical software. The "integrate" option under the Tools menu was used to calculate the area under the spectra from the wavelength 1666 to

1746 cm⁻¹ using an absolute baseline. Figure A1.2 shows an example of the calculated area.



Figure A1.2 Calculation of Carbonyl band area

A.2 General Procedure and Notes on the GPC Procedure

A Shimadzu Prominence GPC system using two styragel columns was used to conduct the GPC studies for the various binders in this study. Laboratory consumables for the GPC tests include-

- Auto sampling vials
- Scintillation vials
- Auto sampling cap crimp
- 0.2 Micron filters
- Syringes
- Tetrahydrofuran (THF) solvent

A concentration of 1mg/ml of binder to the solvent was used to inject the sample solutions into the GPC system. Sample solutions at the desired concentrations were prepared in scintillation vials using a small quantity of binder (10-15mg), and appropriate ml of solvent. The density of THF (0.8892 g/ml) is used to determine the amount of solvent required to prepare the solution of the desired concentration. Following this, approximately 3ml of the solution is transferred into an auto-sampling vial by attaching a 0.2-micron filter to filter the solution through. The samples were then placed into the GPC system and named using the installed software program. The analysis of the GPC data is relatively simple and can be conducted primarily using MSexcel and OriginPro software. The large molecular size (LMS) percentages were calculated for the binders as follows:

$$LMS\% = \frac{\text{Area of first}\frac{5}{13} \text{ of chromatogram}}{\text{Toal Area below the chromatogram}} * 100$$

However, prior to the calculation of the LMS%, some pre-treatment and normalisation of data are recommended. Correction of datasets can be conducted using the "baseline model" under the peaks and baseline option in the OriginPro analysis toolbar. The dataset is then smoothed using the smoothing option in the analysis toolbar using the "Savitzky-Golay" method. Lastly, the intensity is normalised relative to the highest data value.

A.3 General Procedure and Setup of the Optical Microscope

The optical microscope technique described in this dissertation followed the procedure described in a previous work, developed at the University of Texas at Austin [105]. To study the microstructure of bituminous binders, a customised optical microscope from Leitz Ergolux equipped with a 100X objective was used. The specific set up components of the microscope included:

Heater stage

The heater stage is used to control the temperature of the sample during microstructure imaging. The heater is mounted on translation stages so that it, and the sample, can be moved in the x and y-direction. To get precise temperature control, a thermoelectric heater is connected to an aluminium sample-holder custom-designed for microscope slides. The heater's temperature range was -10 to 125 °C with 0.1 °C resolution. The heater temperature was monitored and changed with a controller and cooled with continuous water flow, supplied by a 5-gallon reservoir.

Camera

A CMOS camera was used to take images. CMOS is silicon-based, so the light collection range was ~ 300-1000nm. This range worked well for surface and bulk measurements of 500 nm and 850nm respectively. The camera was manually triggered with the included camera software and used an Arduino control board to set up automated triggering.

Objective

A Nikon 40X long working distance objective was attached to the CMOS camera. The long working distance is crucial for the incident beam to be able to reach the sample without being blocked by the objective. Higher or lower magnification lenses could be used, based on the area of the sample under investigation. The scattered light is very weak relative to the incident light (typically $\sim 1x10-8$ of incident intensity), so high numerical aperture objectives (typically NA > 0.5) are needed to collect as much scattered light as possible.

Light source

A 250-watt halogen lamp mounted in a custom-built fiber bundle coupler was used as the light source. The halogen lamp was chosen because of its wide spectrum. Intensity at 850nm was much less than at 500nm, however, it proved to be bright enough to observe bulk microstructure scatter. Much higher intensities can be achieved with NIR laser sources, but it was found that interference effects due to scattering of coherent light then complicate interpretation of the images.

Optomechanics

Linear translation stages were used for the sample and objective movements. In order to keep the incident light constant at the objective's object plane, the objective and the focusing lens were fixed in place in the x-y direction. The heater stage was mounted on translation stages in the x-y direction and a z-axis jack. This allowed for a 3-dimensional sample movement. The objective was also mounted on a z-axis translation stage to allow for fine focus control. Figure A3.1 shows the translation stages and setup of the microscope.



Figure A.3.1 Translation stages for sample and objective movement

A.4 General Procedure and Notes on Tex(as)SARA Procedure

The SARA fractionation method conducted in Chapter 5 of this dissertation was conducted as per the procedure developed in the University of Texas at Austin and commonly referred to as TexSARA. The method is mainly divided into two parts and described briefly below. The first part is the solubility-based separation of asphaltenes and extraction of maltenes. The second part is chromatography-based fractionation of maltenes into saturates, aromatics and resins. The apparatus and materials included the following:

- Laboratory balance
- Vacuum manifold:
- Vacuum pump
- Drying oven (preferably with nitrogen purge capability)
- Solvent trap
- A Magnetic stirring plate
- Magnetic stirrer bar
- Wide-mouth round bottle with septa closure
- Silicone strip,
- Metal measuring spoon
- Blunt tip pipetting needle 4-6 inch in length
- Pipettes with 0.1 mL resolution that can be used with the solvents.
- Gloves compatible with the solvents.
- Supplies and consumables
- Sharp/bevel needles, 1.5-2", 20 gauge or higher.
- Syringe filters
- Solid-phase extraction (SPE) cartridges
- Vials with septa top
- n-Heptane
- Toluene
- Dichloromethane (DCM)

• Methanol

The first part of the procedure entailed the separation of asphaltenes and maltenes. This firstly involved the dissolution of bitumen in n-heptane. This is conducted by placing a small dollop of bitumen (mass~400 mg) in a wide mouth glass mouth with 40 ml heptane. Which is then stirred using a magnetic stirrer for around 24 hours. After mixing, the asphaltenes and maltenes are separated using a PTFE filter (25-30 mm dia, PTFE, 0.2-0.22 µm pore size) under the influence of vacuum, into 4 separately weighed vials. 2 of these vials are then dried under nitrogen purge, and the net mass of the remaining maltenes in the vials are accounted for.

The second part of the procedure is the separation of the maltene fraction into saturates, aromatics and resins. The 3rd and 4th vial from the asphaltene-maltene separation is used for this procedure. Firstly, each vial is diluted with n-Heptane to achieve a 3.33 mg/mL solution, and 15 mL of this solution from each vial is then drawn into separate syringes. Solutions of pure n-Heptane (20 mL and 10 mL in two different syringes or beakers), 80% Toluene- 20% n-Heptane (total 25 mL), and 90% DCM- 10% Methanol (total 40 mL) are then prepared separately in beakers. The steps for the separation into S-A-R fractions are as follows-

- Prepare the vacuum manifold by connecting it to a vacuum source. Place pre-weighed vials (each 40 ml capacity) below the ports and ensure that liner coming from the port discharges directly into the desired vial.
- Mount a fresh SPE cartridge (5 g silica gel, 20 ml capacity) on the pre-wash location of the manifold while keeping the nozzle/vacuum closed. Pour 20 mL of n-Heptane into the SPE cartridge and turn on the vacuum.
- Transfer the cartridge over to the next port/vial for the collection of saturates. Completely close the port nozzle. Introduce 15 mL of maltene-heptane solution from one of the prepared syringes and slowly open the port nozzle to apply vacuum as in the

previous step. When there is no more free liquid at the top of the silica in the cartridge, immediately add 10 mL of n-heptane.

- Transfer the cartridge to the next vial to separate aromatics. Stir and pour 25 ml of the 80% Toluene- 20% n-Heptane solution and apply vacuum as in the previous step
- Move the cartridge to the next vial to separate and collect resins. Pour 40 mL of 90% DCM- 10% Methanol and apply vacuum as done in previous steps. Stop vacuum when the cartridge appears uniform and dry.
- Dry all bottles except pre-wash in the same way as the maltene solution was dried after asphaltene separation process. Weigh the bottles after being cooled and gravimetrically measure the S-A-R fraction using a mass balance. Figure A3.1 shows the final fractionation products after elution and drying



(a) Fractionation products and SPE cartridges after elution.



(b) Collected bitumen fractions

Figure A.4.1 Final fractionation products after elution and drying